
 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 
  

Thursday, March 21, 2024                                                                              Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Minutes of March 7, 2024 

 
4. Public Hearing:  20857 and 20859 S. La Grange Road – Bear Down Barbecue (Ref#107) Continued 

from March 7, 2024  
Request: Special Use Permit for a full-service restaurant with liquor sales, for Bear Down Barbeque & 
Catering Company, located at 20857 and 20859 S. La Grange Road in the B-2 Community Business District 
(PIN: 19-09-22-100-051-0000). 

 
5. Public Hearing:  Ash Street Right-of-Way Vacation (Ref#108) 

Request:  Vacation of a section of Ash Street public right-of-way, generally located at the southern terminus 
of Ash Street. 

 
6. Public Hearing: 9426 Corsair Road – Triple Crown Training/Top Velocity (Ref#109)   

Request: Special Use Permit for indoor recreation for a baseball training facility in the I-1 Limited Industrial 
District (PINs: 19-09-34-302-013-0000). 

 
7. Workshop #3: 10211 W. Lincoln Highway – Rhumbar 

Future Public Hearing Request: Proposed Major Change to the Brookside Commons Office Centre Planned 
Unit Development for building exterior changes; Special Use Permit for a Full-Service Restaurant with 
liquor sales; Special Use Permit for Outdoor Seating associated with a permitted restaurant; and Special Use 
Permit for a drive-up service window associated with a permitted use, in the B-4 Office District. (PIN: 19-
09-21-304-021-0000) 
 

8. Public Comments 
 
9. Village Board & Committee Updates  

 
10. Other Business 

 
  2024 Zoning Map  

 
11. Attendance Confirmation (April 11, 2024) 

 
12. Adjournment 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 
 



Page 2 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable Federal and State laws, the meeting will be accessible 
to individuals with disabilities. Persons requiring auxiliary aids and/or services should contact the Community Development 
Department at (815) 469-2177, preferably no later than five days before the meeting. 
 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 1 
 

 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        March 7, 2024 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Schaeffer called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM 

Commissioners Present: Nichole Schaeffer (Chair), Johnny Morris, Jessica Jakubowski, 
Will Markunas, Dan Knieriem 

Commissioners Absent: Brian James, David Hogan 

Staff Present: Community & Economic Development Director Mike Schwarz, 
Senior Planner Christopher Gruba, Planner Amanda Martinez  

Elected Officials Present:  None  

A. Approval of the Minutes from February 22nd, 2024 

Chair Schaeffer asked for questions or comments regarding the minutes.   

Commissioner Jakubowski asked if the attendance confirmation section could be revised 
as she did not state that she would be absent at the March 7th meeting. 

Motion (#1):  To approve the minutes from February 22nd, 2024, as amended. 

Motion by: Knieriem    Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0) 

B. Public Hearing: Lanigan Residence 

Christopher Gruba presented the staff report.  

The applicant’s representative, Steve Francis, approached the podium and added that they 
have made minor changes in the architectural details to align with the homeowner and 
Commission requests. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that the Commission will go through the requested variations one at 
a time. 

 
 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 2 
 

Building Materials: 

 Commissioner Markunas thanked the applicant for making changes after the workshop, the
 changes softened the color of the house. 

Chair Scheffer thanked the applicant for the changes and noted that there is more masonry 
on the proposed house. 

Front Yard and Corner Side Yard Setback: 

Chair Scheffer stated that she is agreeable to the setback variation request because the road 
pavement is not centered within the right-of-way on Maple Street. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that the corner side yard area is large. He added that his 
home is also a corner lot, so he understands and is amenable to the request. 

 There was a consensus that the setbacks are sufficient. 

Lot Coverage: 

Staff stated that the lot coverage percentage remained the same from the workshop 
meeting, and that the impervious surface coverage percentage changed since the workshop 
meeting to meet Code. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that he does not see the hardship in the lot coverage 
request. 

 Commissioner Knieriem asked if there is any effort to reduce the lot coverage percentage. 

The applicant’s representative stated that the proposal is based on what the homeowner 
would like within the house and that the rooms were squeezed to be smaller to attempt a 
lower percentage. 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that she is amenable to the lot coverage variation request 
because if the second floor got larger, there would be less architectural variation on the 
house. 

Lot Depth and Width: 

Chair Schaeffer stated that the subject property is a non-conforming lot, so she is amenable 
to the lot depth and width request since it is acknowledging that it is a non-conforming lot.  

 There was a consensus that the lot depth and width is reasonable.   

Plat: 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 3 
 

 There was a consensus that the Commission is ok with the proposed plat. 

 Chair Schaeffer asked if anyone from the public wished to speak.   

Jim Sleeman, representing Sleeman Builders, approached the podium and stated the below 
concerns: 

• As a frequent builder in the local area, he had been advised that there is no land 
related hardship if the lot is over 15,000 square feet. He added that there should be 
consistency in that statement if true. 

• He had been discouraged in the past to propose houses with a 3-car garages.  He 
added that there should be consistency with these types of requests from the 
Commission.  He made reference to a house that he sought variations for at 202 
Ash Street.  

• He does not think that the proposed house meets the Residential Design Guidelines 
within the 2019 Comprehensive Plan, which staff and the Commission have been 
firm on before. 
 

Beth Partyka approached the podium and stated that she was involved with the proposal 
for the house on Ash Street that Sleeman Builders just mentioned. She stated that the 
property on Ash Street is a corner lot, just like the proposal at tonight’s meeting, and 
Sleeman Builders was told to shrink the home size to ensure that the lot coverage was 
reduced from 21% to 20%. She added that she does not think it looks good for the Village 
to approve a variation request for one homeowner and not the other, so the Residential 
Design Guidelines should be followed. 

Mari Toepper approached the podium and stated that she lives at the house at 202 Ash 
Street that was just mentioned and was denied a variation request. She stated that she was 
told to not have a 3-car garage that is visible from the road and that the impervious surface 
coverage was exceeding the maximum allowable percentage. She stated that there should 
be consistency when these variations have been denied for someone just a few years ago. 
She added that she does not think the proposed house at tonight’s meeting fits in with the 
surrounding area because it might overshadow homes adjacent to it. 

Motion (#2):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#3):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request for 1st floor 
building materials to allow non-masonry siding on the property located at 219 Pacific 
Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact. 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 4 
 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#4):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the 
required front yard setback for the primary structure from 30’ to 22.6’, on the property 
located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and 
findings of fact. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Markunas 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#5):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the 
required corner side yard setback for the primary structure from 30’ to 24.9’, on the 
property located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans, public 
testimony and findings of fact. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#6):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to exceed the 
maximum lot coverage to allow 28.9% instead of 20%, on the property located at 219 
Pacific Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact. 

Motion by: Knieriem   Seconded by: Morris 

Denied: (1-4, Morris, Jakubowski, Markunas and Knieriem voted no)   

Motion (#7):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the 
minimum lot width to 101.28’ instead of 120’ for a corner property, on the property located 
at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings 
of fact. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Knieriem 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#8):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the 
minimum lot depth to 147.31’ instead of 150’, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, 
in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Markunas 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 5 
 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#9):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation from Section 9.5-1 of 
the Village of Frankfort Land Subdivision Regulations to approve a Plat of Subdivision for 
a lot width and depth which do not conform to the requirements of the Village of Frankfort 
Zoning Ordinance, in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings 
of fact. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Knieriem 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#10):  Recommend the Village Board approve the Preliminary and Final Plat of 
Subdivision of 219 Pacific Street Subdivision, subject to technical revisions prior to 
recording. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   

C. Public Hearing: Bear Down Barbeque & Catering Company 

Christopher Gruba presented the staff report.  

The applicant, Rashid Riggins, approached the podium to introduce himself and his 
business which is in Frankfort. He stated that his customers frequently go to other 
restaurants, such as Chef Klaus, for a drink before they go to his restaurant to eat. He added 
that he would like to include a service bar for the bartender, which is something that was 
missed by the architect before they submitted the floor plan.  

Staff stated that the bar area would need to be shown on the floor plan so that it can be 
reviewed for compliance and asked where the bar area would be located. 

The applicant stated that he would want to put the bar area by the new bathrooms which 
takes out one table that was shown on the floor plan. He added that the bar table would be 
approximately 6’ long and would have no seating as it would be solely a workstation for 
the bartender. 

Staff stated that there are standards for restaurants with liquor sales including the 
requirement to physically delineate the bar from the dining area. 

Chair Shaeffer asked if Commissioners had any initial questions.  



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 6 
 

Commissioner Markunas stated that he visits the business and advised the applicant to work 
on his floor plan so that the Village Board would not have a hard time reviewing for 
approval. 

Commissioner Morris asked the applicant what the hours of operation would be. 

The applicant responded that the business would be open 5 days a week from 7:00am to 
8:00pm. 

There was a consensus that the applicant should work with staff to revise the floor plan to 
show a bar area that is compliant with the standards mentioned in the Zoning Ordinance.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if anyone from the public would like to speak. 

Niambi Riggins, the applicant’s family member, asked if there would need to be one or 
two partition walls since the bar area needs to be compliant with the Zoning Ordinance. 

Chair Schaeffer responded that staff would help guide the applicant with further detail after 
this meeting. 

Chair Schaeffer asked for a motion to continue the public hearing to the next available Plan 
Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals meeting.  

Motion (#11):  To continue and keep open the public hearing until the March 21st, 2024, 
PC/ZBA meeting.  

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   

D. Public Hearing: Magic Massage  
 
Amanda Martinez presented the staff report.  

The applicant, Sarah Cai, approached the podium and introduced herself.  

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant if she currently has a business anywhere else.  Ms. Cai 
replied no, but that she used to have a business in California.  Chair Schaeffer asked her if 
it was also a massage business.  Ms. Cai replied yes, and that she had it for two years before 
selling it.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if the business would be open every day. Ms. Cai replied 
yes, from 10 am – 9 pm.  



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 7 
 

Commissioner Knieriem noted that there are 5 rooms on the floorplan and asked if there 
would be 5 employees.  Ms. Cai replied that she wasn’t sure at this time.  She said that 
there would be 4 single-person rooms and 1 couples’ room.  She said that for her soft 
opening, it would be herself and two other employees, for a total of 3 employees.  They 
will likely start off with more couples’ massages at first.  

Chair Schaeffer asked Ms. Cai if she and all her employees are licensed for such work in 
Illinois. Ms. Cai replied yes.  

Commissioner Morris asked how Ms. Cai decided on her hours of operation.  Ms. Cai said 
that she simply looked at how long other businesses were open in the area and used them 
as a template.   

Chair Schaeffer raised the topic of parking and noted that the applicant would request a 
parking adjustment to waive all required off-street parking.  Commissioner Markunas said 
that this shopping plaza is never close to being full.  

Chair Schaeffer asked Amanda Martinez if all the Zoning Ordinance requirements for a 
massage establishment had been met.  She replied yes.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if anyone from the public wished to speak.  There were none.  

Motion (#12):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Markunas 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#13):  Approve an adjustment to the minimum number of required parking spaces 
to allow the existing 558 parking spaces in the subject plaza to serve the existing businesses 
and the proposed massage establishment.  

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Markunas 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#14):  Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for a Massage 
Establishment to permit the operation of a Massage Establishment in the B-3 Community 
Business District for the property located at 19989 S. La Grange Rd., Frankfort, Illinois 
60423 (PIN 19-09-15-101-006-0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public 
testimony, and Findings of Fact, subject to the following two conditions: 

 1. The applicant shall obtain a Business License. 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 8 
 

2. The applicant shall comply with Zoning Ordinance Article 5, Section C, Part 
11.1, Use Regulations for Massage Establishments. 

Motion by: Morris   Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0)   

E. Public Hearing: Blocker Residence 

Amanda Martinez presented the staff report. Additionally, she summarized an email that 
staff received from Sam Aiello at 320 S. 95th Avenue who shared support of the proposed 
new construction house.   

The applicant, Jarrett Lecas, approached the podium and stated that he is representing the 
property owners, Stephen, and Monica Blocker.  He added that the product that is proposed 
for the cedar siding has a warranty of 25 years even if submerged under water.  He also 
noted that the house passes LEED certification, applies a rainscreen system behind the 
exterior walls and an insect screen at the bottom of the walls as well.   

Commissioner Knieriem said that building materials have evolved over time and that the 
cedar siding product looks durable.  

Commissioner Markunas said that the proposed cedar siding product looks superior to 
Hardie board per his research. He asked the applicant if he’s used this product anywhere 
else.  The applicant responded no, but that he’s viewed other homes that have used the 
product and that it seems to hold up over time.  Commissioner Markunas asked if the 
product holds up to UV.  The applicant responded yes.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if anyone from the public wished to speak.  Resident Lisa Cleeland 
of 304 N. 95th Avenue approached the podium.  She said she lives in the a-frame house 
next door and that she’s excited that the property next to hers will be developed.  

Resident Doug Heathcock of 229 N. White Street approached the podium. He described 
the proposed architecture and materials as “cool”.  He said the house could not nor should 
not be masonry.   

Resident Frank Dicolosa of 95 Cambridge Court agreed with the other residents.  He likes 
the design because it is not “cookie cutter”.   

Motion (#15):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 9 
 

Chair Schaeffer expressed her general agreement with the proposal.  

Commissioner James said that he appreciated the different design and sustainability.  

Commissioner Markunas said that the materials were well suited for the architecture.  

Mike Schwarz explained the removal of the variation for the proposed metal roof.  He 
stated that staff took a conservative approach in interpreting the language in the Zoning 
Ordinance. Upon further review of the language, staff determined that a variation for the 
metal roof is not required.  He said that the requirement for the masonry siding has always 
been in the Zoning Ordinance and therefore this variation still applies.  The property is not 
located within the downtown boundary and therefore the Residential Design Guidelines 
within the 2019 Comprehensive Plan do not apply.   

Chair Schaeffer said that the property is almost entirely surrounded by commercial uses.  
She said that an all-brick exterior could appear monotonous and that the proposed house is 
“anti-monotony”.  

Motion (#16):  Recommend the Village Board approve a variation request to allow non-
masonry siding for first floor and second-floor building materials on a house proposed on 
Lot B in the Aurthur T. McIntosh and Company’s Kean Avenue, S. 95th Ave. (19-09-22-
300-025-0000), in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and Findings of 
Fact. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by:  Jakubowski  

Approved: (5-0)   

F. Non-Public Hearing: Triple Crown Training 

Amanda Martinez presented the staff report.   

Applicant David Wayne Posley Jr. approached the podium.   

Commissioner Morris asked if they have operations in other states, if this location will be 
a franchisee and if the applicant could explain why they chose Frankfort as a location.  The 
applicant replied that his clients are Frankfort residents, and that the operation will be a 
franchise.  

Commissioner Markunas said that being a franchise, he is assuming that the parent 
company has design standards for how it looks.  The applicant said that there are no plans 
to modify the existing building.   



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 10 
 

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if he was the owner.  The applicant responded 
that he is a representative of the owners and the lead instructors.  Commissioner Knieriem 
asked if they would only focus on baseball if it was previously a Rhino Sports Academy 
and if Triple Crown would own it.  The applicant replied that they would only focus on 
baseball, that it was in fact a former Rhino facility and that Triple Crown would lease the 
building.  Commissioner Knieriem asked if all sports activities would be indoor, and 
nothing would be outdoors.  The applicant responded that was correct.  The applicant said 
there would be no outdoor field to play baseball because this facility would only be used 
for training and practice.  Commissioner Knieriem said that there is a shortage of this type 
of use in Frankfort.   

Chair Schaeffer asked if the facility would ever be rented out for parties or events.  The 
applicant responded no.  

Chair Schaeffer asked for comments regarding parking.  She said that the gravel in the rear 
yard was not approved to be there and should be removed.  It could either be restored with 
grass or it could be paved for a rear parking lot. She said that since the facility would be 
relatively large, that more on-site parking would likely be required. The applicant noted 
that they would likely prefer to pave the rear yard for parking.  Mike Schwarz noted that 
any new parking lot on site would need to be reviewed for engineering compliance and 
would require curb & gutter, etc.  The plans would need to be prepared by a licensed 
architect or engineer.  The applicant asked the Commission how much parking he needs 
for the proposed use.  Chair Schaeffer replied that that is what is being debated tonight.  
The applicant asked if there were any records showing that parking “spillover” was an issue 
when Rhino was there.  Amanda Martinez noted that Rhino did not have any conditions 
for parking attached to their approval.  She noted that the required parking for Rhino was 
based upon what the applicants said they needed at the time.  However, the code technically 
states that the required parking must be based upon “maximum occupancy”, which would 
equate to 64 parking spaces, which probably won’t be able to fit on site.  The applicant 
responded that this facility would be primarily for pick-up and drop-off of youths and that 
he’d prefer to not spend the money to pave a parking lot expansion.  

Commissioner Markunas asked what the maximum occupancy would be of the facility.  
The applicant responded that there would be a maximum of 2 teams at once, or about 30 
people.  Chair Schaeffer said that most of the players will be young and not driving to the 
facility.  Commissioner Knieriem said that typically, parents pick up and drop off children 
at once, which can lead to a mess of cars at once.  He said that he would prefer it if the site 
plan could be reworked to provide a one-way entrance and one-way exit to allow proper 
circulation.  He said that the existing 5-6 existing parking spaces would be deficient.  He 
said that as an industrial property, he would not want kids being picked up in the streets, 
crossing the street or otherwise being in the street.  He believed that approximately 34-40 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 11 
 

on-site parking spaces would be required. Mike Schwarz noted that the property could not 
exceed an impervious lot coverage of 80% and to keep that in mind.  

Commissioner Markunas said that he estimates 2/3rds of the parents would sit in the parking 
lot and read a book while waiting for practice to end. As such, parking will be required on-
site.  Amanda Martinez noted that on-street parking does not technically count toward the 
amount of required parking.  There was general discussion regarding the amount of parking 
that should be required.  The Commission seemed to agree that 30 spaces would be 
required.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked if a trash enclosure was considered, taking into account 
turning movements for emergency vehicles.  Commissioner Markunas asked the applicant 
if they received proper directions.  They replied yes.  

G. Public Comments 

None. 

H. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted that the following projects were approved by the Village Board at its 
meeting on March 4, 2024: 

 
• The Voorn Lawndale Subdivision (preliminary and final plat); and 
• The 39 and 49 E. Bowen Street Wall Massing Variation (Ord. 3441).  

I. Other Business 

None. 

J. Attendance Confirmation (March 21st, 2024) 

Chair Schaeffer asked Commissioners to please let staff know if someone cannot attend 
the next meeting.   

Motion (#13): Adjournment 8:58 P.M. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by: Knieriem 

The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote (5-0). 

Approved March 21st, 2024 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 12 
 

_____________________/s/ Nichole Schaeffer, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 



Planning Commission / ZBA                                               S        March 21, 2024 

Project: Bear Down Barbeque & Catering Company   
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing   
Request: Special Use Permit, full-service restaurant with liquor sales 
Location: 20857 & 20859 S. La Grange Road 
Applicant: Rashid Riggins 
Prop. Owner: Butera Center Management, Inc. 
Representative: Rashid Riggins 
Plan Reviewer:  Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner 

Site Details 

Lot Size: 10.58 Acres  Figure 1. Location Map    

PIN(s): 19-09-22-100-051-0000
Existing Zoning: B-2
Proposed Zoning: N/A 
Buildings: 3 
Total Sq. Ft. tenant: 2,063 SF (proposed) 

Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Commercial Commercial B-2 

North Commercial Commercial B-2/B-4 

South  Commercial Commercial B-2 

East Res. Townhomes Single-Family 
Attached 

Residential 

R-4 

West Commercial Commercial B-2 

Project Summary 

Bear Down Barbeque & Catering Company is an existing carry-out restaurant located in the southeast corner of the 
former Butera shopping plaza.  The applicant is proposing to expand their existing restaurant and transition to a 
full-service restaurant with liquor sales.  The existing tenant space at 20857 S. La Grange Road is 1,151 square feet 
and they would add 912 square feet from the adjacent tenant space at 20859 S. La Grange Road (formerly 
Computer Repair), for a total of 2,063 square feet.  The floor plan illustrates 12 tables, with a total of 46 seats.  
There are no planned changes to the exterior of the building, nor is any outdoor seating proposed.   

Attachments 
• Aerial photograph scale 1:2,000, prepared by staff GIS 
• Survey of property
• Floor plan provided by the architect, received March 13, 2024
• Findings of Fact for a Special Use Permit, completed by the applicant, received January 16, 2024
• Special Use Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form
• Parking analysis of Butera shopping plaza (existing & proposed regulations)
• Description of business and hours of operation, received via email February 29, 2024

1



• Current menu of Bear Down Barbeque & Catering Company (from website)
• Draft PC/ZBA meeting minutes of March 7, 2024

Changes to the plans since the last public hearing: 

The PC/ZBA reviewed this request during the public hearing on March 7, 2024.  At that time, the applicant noted 
that he wanted a small bar area/server station within the seating area of the restaurant, which was not reflected 
on the floor plan.  Staff noted that any changes to the floor plan would need to be reviewed to ensure compliance 
with the Zoning Ordinance and other codes.  As such, the PC/ZBA motioned to keep the public hearing open and 
table the item until March 21, 2024.   

The architect has since changed the floor plan slightly to include a small bar area/server station and removed 6 
seats.  The bar area would be delineated from the dining area by a partition half-wall.  There would be no seating 
at the bar/server station area.  The new floor plan, as proposed, complies with the Zoning Ordinance use standards 
for full-service restaurants with liquor sales.   

Analysis (unchanged) 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 

Parking:  

The Village is currently reviewing a Zoning Ordinance text amendment for parking requirements.  The Butera 
shopping plaza is technically deficient by 299 spaces per the existing requirements and would be deficient by 204 
spaces per the proposed regulations.  However, it’s generally accepted that this plaza is not deficient based on 
actual parking demand and could even be considered to have a surplus of parking.   

The existing parking regulations require 1 space for every 100 square feet of gross floor area, plus 1 for each 
employee.  The area, after the expansion, will be 2,063 square feet, requiring 21 parking spaces, plus employees.  

The Zoning Ordinance permits the Plan Commission to adjust the parking required in business and industrial 
districts on a case-by-case basis.  Given that a parking deficiency has not been noted at this plaza, and the fact the 
shopping center provides for 501 existing spaces that are shared parking among all tenants, staff recommends that 
the Plan Commission consider approving an adjustment to the to the required on-site parking from 21 spaces to 0 
spaces per Article 7, Section B, Part 5 (b) of the Zoning Ordinance as follows: 

“The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust parking requirements: 

1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements.
The petitioner shall submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the
Plan Commission that the operation will require less parking than the Ordinance
requires.

2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written
documentation to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared, or off-site
parking spaces are available to satisfy the parking demand.

a) Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either
parking lots are large enough to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or
that parking spaces will be shared at specific times of the day (shared parking,
where one activity uses the spaces during daytime hours and another activity
uses the spaces during evening hours.)

2



b) Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the
required parking and shall be located not more than three-hundred (300) feet
from the principal use that it is intended to serve.”

The applicant has not provided evidence or written documentation as noted above.  However, staff has performed 
a thorough parking analysis of this shopping plaza as part of the proposed parking requirements text amendment 
(attached).  

Liquor Sales: 

In an email to staff sent February 15, 2024, the applicant noted the following regarding liquor sales: “We will have 
a very small liquor option that will grow as time goes on to about a normal level of liquor options. To start we will 
just do beer and wine in prepackaged bottles, and simple drinks like whisky/rum & cokes, vodka and cranberry, and 
gin and orange juice. Our income will definitely be mostly from the meats, but we do look forward to it being 
supplemented by the adult beverages that our customers have been hoping we’d eventually get for years”.  The 
Zoning Ordinance’s definition of a full-service restaurant says that food sales “shall comprise a majority of all 
revenues generated by the business”.  If liquor comprises a majority of all revenues, the use will fall into the 
category of “tavern”.  Staff recommends adding this as a condition of approval, should the PC/ZBA recommend 
approval to the Board.   

Restroom Facilities: 

The Building Department has noted that the proposed full-service restaurant with liquor sales will require 1 
women’s toilet, 1 men’s toilet and 1 urinal per the IL State Plumbing Code.  The proposed restroom facilities 
comply with this requirement.    

Standards for Special Use 

No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate
vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within
the neighborhood.

c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.

e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being
provided.

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in
which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board,
pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.

3



Findings for Consideration 
 
The Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals finds: 
 

1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.   

 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property 
values within the neighborhood.  

 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood.  

 
5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided.  
 

6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

 
7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
Affirmative Motions 
 

1. Approve an adjustment to the minimum number of required parking spaces from 21 spaces to 0 
spaces to allow the existing 501 parking spaces on the property to serve the existing businesses and 
the proposed expanded restaurant; 
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow a full-service restaurant with 
liquor sales on the property located at 20857 and 20859 S. La Grange Road (total 2,063 square feet), 
in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact, conditioned upon final 
engineering and that food sales shall comprise the majority of all revenues generated by the business.  

 

4



S L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D

E COLORADO AVE

MARKET ST

W BANKVIEW DR

ASHLEYCT

W COLORADO AVE

CA
RD

IN
AL

 C
T

0 250 500125
Feet

µ
20857 S. La Grange - Bear Down BBQ

5



6

cgruba
Received

cgruba
Rectangle



7

cgruba
Received



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Special Use Permit Findings of Fact 

 
Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use permit request. The Plan Commission must 
make the following seven findings based upon the evidence provided. To assist the Plan Commission in 
their review of the special use permit request(s), please provide responses to the following “Findings of 
Fact.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 

endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district. 
  
 
 
 
 
4. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood. 

 
 
 
 
 

We believe that the establishment, maintenance, and operation of our full-service 
restaurant with accessory liquor sales will not be detrimental to, or endanger, the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. Our business has a history 
of providing high-quality food and service, and we are committed to maintaining a 
safe and welcoming environment.

We assert that our special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other 
properties in the immediate vicinity, nor will it substantially diminish or impair 
property values within the neighborhood. We aim to enhance the local dining scene 
and contribute positively to the community.

We are confident that the establishment of our full-service restaurant will not impede 
the normal and orderly development and improvement of the surrounding property 
for uses permitted in the district.

The exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of our proposed structure have 
been carefully designed to harmonize with the structures already constructed or in 
the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood. We believe this will not 
cause substantial depreciation in property values within the neighborhood.

8



5. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

 
 
 
 
 
6. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so 

designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 
 

 

 

 

7. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village 
Board, pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

 
 

Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and necessary facilities have been and 
will continue to be provided to support our expanded business operations.

We have taken and will continue to take adequate measures to provide ingress and 
egress designed to minimize traffic congestion in public streets, ensuring a smooth 
flow of traffic in the vicinity.

We assure you that our special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the 
applicable regulations of the district in which it is located. Any necessary modifications 
will be made in accordance with the recommendations of the Plan Commission and 
the approval of the Village Board.

9



Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form – Special Use Permit 

Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every special use permit request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless all the following findings are made. 

STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or 

operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

YES      NO 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the 
use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already 
permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

YES      NO 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not 
impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for 
uses permitted in the district. 

YES      NO 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will not 
be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of 
construction in the immediate neighborhood or 
the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood. 

YES      NO 

10



e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage 
and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

  
YES              NO 
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be 
taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public 
streets. 

  
YES              NO 
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, 
conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by 
the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

11



BUTERA CENTER EXISTING REGULATIONS
Address Tenant Use Area Requirement Estimated employees Parking Req'd
20883 Plaza Cleaner Dry Cleaner 4200 1 per 200 GFA, + 1 ea. employee 5 26
20855/101 Be Well Chiropractic Health Office 1000 3 per exam room, + 1 each employee 5 11
20855/200 Mind and Health Health Office 757 3 per exam room, + 1 each employee 3 6
20855/202 Personal Solutions Health Office 1425 3 per exam room, + 1 each employee 3 12
20855/208 Personal Solutions Health Office 1286 3 per exam room, + 1 each employee 3 12
20855/209 Personal Solutions Health Office 1188 3 per exam room, + 1 each employee 3 12
20871 Facen 4ward Indoor Entertainment 1400 1 per 4 pple max occupancy + 1 ea. employee 3 19
20861 Crisis Rooms Indoor Entertainment 4200 1 per 4 pple max occupancy + 1 ea. employee 3 21
20855/205 Lydia Hodges/ Doorway 11 Massage 2400 1 per 200 GFA + 1 ea. employee 3 15
20873 M R Gold & Silver Retail 1400 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 8
20821 Bargain Mania Retail 39348 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 10 168
20815 Tiny Tots Indoor Recreation 4186 1 per 4 pple max occupancy + 1 ea. employee 3 30
20855/100 VACANT Retail (assumed) 1150 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 7
20855/103 VACANT Retail (assumed) 525 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 1 4
20855/105 VACANT Retail (assumed) 2058 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 11
20875 Lincoln Travel Office 1400 1 per 200 GFA 7
20855/102 VACANT Retail (assumed) 2300 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 12
20855/104 VACANT Retail (assumed) 432 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 1 3
20855/201 VACANT Retail (assumed) 1275 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 8
20879 Salt Cave Personal Services 4200 1 per 200 GFA, + 1 ea. employee 3 24
20867 Barber Shop Personal Services 900 1 per 200 GFA, + 1 ea. employee 2 7
20887 Jeff Lamorte Personal Services 6000 1 per 200 GFA, + 1 ea. employee 10 40
20863 Frankfort Computer Repair Repair Services 900 1 per 400 GFA, + 1 ea. employee 3 6
20893 Subway Restaurant 1750 1 per 75 GFA, + 0.5 per ea. employee 4 26
20857 Bear Down BBQ Restaurant 1200 1 per 75 GFA, + 0.5 per ea. employee 3 18
20831 Amigo Mexican Restaurant 2800 1 per 100 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 5 33
20829 Chef Klaus Restaurant 6400 1 per 100 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 10 74
20805 Social 45 Restaurant 8710 1 per 100 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 8 96
20811 Starbucks Restaurant 2800 1 per 75 GFA, + 0.5 per ea. employee 6 41
20887 Red Dresser Retail 4555 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 21
20869 Vibe Nutrition Retail 1400 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 8
20833 US Tobacco Retail 2800 1 per 250 GFA, + 1 per ea. employee 2 14

800
501
299

Total Required
Total Available
Deficient

12



BUTERA CENTER PROPOSED REGULATIONS
Address Tenant Use Area Requirement Estimated employees Parking Req'd
20883 Plaza Cleaner Dry Cleaner 4200 1 per 200 GFA 5 21
20855/101 Be Well Chiropractic Health Office 1000 1 per 250 GFA  5 4
20855/200 Mind and Health Health Office 757 1 per 250 GFA  3 3
20855/202 Personal Solutions Health Office 1425 1 per 250 GFA  3 6
20855/208 Personal Solutions Health Office 1286 1 per 250 GFA  3 6
20855/209 Personal Solutions Health Office 1188 1 per 250 GFA  3 5
20871 Facen 4ward Indoor Entertainment 1400 1 per 200 GFA 3 7
20861 Crisis Rooms Indoor Entertainment 4200 1 per 200 GFA 3 21
20855/205 Lydia Hodges/ Doorway 11 Massage 2400 1 per 240 GFA 3 10
20873 M R Gold & Silver Retail 1400 1 per 250 GFA  2 6
20821 Bargain Mania Retail 39348 1 per 250 GFA  10 158
20815 Tiny Tots Indoor Recreation 4186 1 per 200 GFA 3 21
20855/100 VACANT Unknown 1150 1 per 100 GFA 2 12
20855/103 VACANT Unknown 525 1 per 100 GFA 1 6
20855/105 VACANT Unknown 2058 1 per 100 GFA 2 21
20875 Lincoln Travel Office 1400 1 per 300 GFA 5
20855/102 VACANT Unknown 2300 1 per 100 GFA 2 23
20855/104 VACANT Unknown 432 1 per 100 GFA 1 5
20855/201 VACANT Unknown 1275 1 per 100 GFA 2 13
20879 Salt Cave Personal Services 4200 1 per 240 GFA 3 18
20867 Barber Shop Personal Services 900 1 per 240 GFA 2 4
20887 Jeff Lamorte Personal Services 6000 1 per 240 GFA 10 25
20863 Frankfort Computer Repair Repair Services 900 1 per 400 GFA 3 3
20893 Subway Restaurant (carry out) 1750 1 per 100 GFA 4 18
20857 Bear Down BBQ Restaurant (carry out) 1200 1 per 100 GFA 3 12
20831 Amigo Mexican Restaurant (carry out) 2800 1 per 100 GFA 5 28
20829 Chef Klaus  Restaurant (full service) 6400 1 per 85 GFA 10 76
20805 Social 45 Restaurant (full service) 8710 1 per 85 GFA 8 103
20811 Starbucks Restaurant (carry out) 2800 1 per 100 GFA 6 28
20887 Red Dresser Retail 4555 1 per 250 GFA  2 19
20869 Vibe Nutrition Retail 1400 1 per 250 GFA  2 6
20833 US Tobacco Retail 2800 1 per 250 GFA  2 12

705
501
204

Total Required
Total Available
Deficient

13



From: Rashid Riggins
To: Chris Gruba
Subject: Re: Bear Down BBQ
Date: Thursday, February 29, 2024 2:22:59 PM

Our barbecue company was created by a chef who is passionate
about many of the different world cuisines, but the methodology of
cooking foods with nothing more than wood, smoke and fire, in an
old world traditional fashion is what inspired his true calling to
become a Pitmaster!  

We pride ourselves on being an authentic Smoke House. We create
each and every rub (spice blend), marinade, and barbecue sauce
from scratch with love in our very own kitchen. The same thing goes
for our side dishes. Everything on our menu is created using high
quality, all natural ingredients, and premium cuts of meat. 

We really do work very hard to do things the right way, by matching
each cut of meat with the right choice of smoke, rub, marinade,
sauce, and cooking/smoking method. Our customer’s health is very
important, so we don’t unnecessarily add extra butters, syrups, and
sugars to our meats; just traditionally prepared, authentic smoky
meat, that’s perfectly seasoned. 

Our attention to detail definitely creates a lot more work for us, but
the value we place on our customers overall satisfaction with our
product makes it all worth it. Our customers are extremely important
to us, and we will always go out of our way to make them happy!

Pulled description from website.

Hours will be Tuesday - Saturday from 11-9pm

Rashid Riggins
Proprietor & Pitmaster
Bear Down Barbecue & Catering Co.
20857 S. Lagrange Rd.
Frankfort, IL 60423
www.beardownbarbecue.com
www.facebook.com/beardownbarbecue

14

mailto:beardownbarbecue@gmail.com
mailto:cgruba@frankfortil.org
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/yFMNCzpogmsPvqoIBCbZ2?domain=beardownbarbecue.com
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/1TWfCADxEnTmMOAUOjl43?domain=facebook.com


LUNCH SPECIALS (TUES.- FRI. 11AM-3:30PM) 

ALL SPECIALS INCLUDE A SIDE AND BEVERAGE 

1. PULLED PORK SANDWICH                   $8 

2. PULLED CHICKEN SANDWICH             $8 

3. PORK RIB TIPS                                       $10 

4. GRILLED BURGER                                 $10 

5. CHICKEN TIPS                                        $11 

6. HOT LINKS                                              $11 

7. ANGUS BEEF BRISKET SANDWICH.    $12 

8. PORK SPARE RIBS                                 $12 

LUNCH SPECIAL SIDE OPTIONS: 

1. POT. SALAD / FRIES / C. SLAW / SPICY GREEN BEANS + $0.00 

2. COWBOY BEANS/ MAC-N-CHEESE              + $1 

3. SEASONED FRIES/ ONION RINGS                + $.50 

COMBO'S 
1. RIB & BRISKET W/FRIES                                    $26 
2. TIPS & BRISKET W/FRIES                                  $24 
3. TURKEY BREAST & BRISKET W/FRIES            $27 
4. RIB & LINK W/FRIES                                           $20 
5. TIP & LINK W/ FRIES                                           $18 
6. RIB & FRIES                        SM. $12 REG. $21 LG. $33 
7. TIP & FRIES                         SM. $10 REG. $17 LG. $27 
8. CHICKEN TIP & FRIES        SM. $11 REG. $19 LG. $30 
9. HOT LINKS W/FRIES           SM. $11 REG. $19 LG. $30 
10. BURGER W/FRIES                                              $10 
11. CHICKEN TENDERS W/FRIES                           $8 
12. FRIED CHICKEN SAND. W/FRIES                     $10 

13. 6PC CRISPY BUFFALO WINGS W/FRIES         $12 
14. PIZZA PUFF W/FRIES                                         $8 

15. BEEF DEEP FRIED POLISH 

W/GRILLED ONIONS & SAUCE W/FRIES               $8 

16. SMOKED ANGUS BRISKET CHEESESTEAK 

W/FRIES                                                                    $23 

LUNCH SPECIAL 
 

(TUES.- SAT. FROM 11am to 3PM) 

PULLED PORK OR PULLED CHICKEN  

SANDWICH W/FRY & DRINK                                    $10 

CHOOSE PULLED BRISKET:                                    $14 

COLE SLAW TOPPING:                                           + $1            
 

SANDWICHES 
1. PULLED PORK                                                SM. $5 REG. $8 
2. PULLED CHICKEN                                          SM. $5 REG. $8 
3. PULLED BRISKET                                           SM. $9 REG. $12 
4. GRILLED BURGER                                          $7 
5. GRILLED BURGER TOPPED W/BACON & PULLED PORK $12 

15



6. WILD CAUGHT SALMON SANDWICH  $12 
7. FRIED CHICKEN SANDWICH  $7 
8. TURKEY BURGER  $7 
9. CORKSCREW CUT JUMBO BEEF HOTDOG  $4 W/SLAW: $6
10. 1LB MEGA BURGER  $20   W/BRISKET $27 W/BACON $22 

11. BEEF DEEP FRIED POLISH 

W/GRILLED ONIONS & SAUCE  $5 

12. SMOKED ANGUS BRISKET CHEESESTEAK  $20

MEATS BY THE POUND
1. BRISKET  $28 
2. TURKEY BREAST  $20 
3. SPARE RIBS  $18 
4. PULLED PORK  $16 
5. PULLED CHICKEN  $16 
6. HOT LINKS  $16 
7. CHICKEN TIPS  $16 
8. PORK TIPS  $14 

SIDES
1. MAC-N-CHEESE  SM. $4.50 LG. $9.00 
2. COWBOY BEANS  SM. $4.50 LG. $9.00 
3. SPICY GREEN BEANS  SM. 3.50  LG. $7.00 
4. POTATO SALAD  SM. 3.50 LG. $7.00 
5. COLE SLAW  SM. $3.50 LG. $7.00 
6. FRESH CUT FRIES  SM. $3.00 LG. $6.00 

7. ONION RINGS  SM. $3.50 LG. $6.50 
7. F. CUT SEASONED FRIES  SM. $3.50 LG. 6.50 
8. PITMASTER CUT STEAK FRIES   SM. $5.00 LG. $10.00
9. P. CUT SEASONED STEAK FRY.   SM. 5.50 LG. 10.50

DESSERTS
1. PIE OF THE DAY  SLICE $5 
2. CAKE OF THE DAY  SLICE $5 
3. BANANA PUDDING  SLICE $5 

SPECIALTY ITEMS
1. MAC-N-CHEESE W/PORK OR CHICKEN $12 W/BRISKET $17
2. BBQ SUNDAE (BEANS, MEAT, SLAW & SAUCE IN 16OZ CUP)

CHICKEN OR PORK                                      $12
BRISKET                                                         $14 

3. BRISKET & MAC-N-CHEESE SANDWICH    $15 

LIMITED TIME 

1. SMOKED PULLED PORK OR SMOKED 

PULLED CHICKEN EGG ROLLS  $3 EACH 

16



 
 

17



Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#9):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation from Section 9.5-1 of 
the Village of Frankfort Land Subdivision Regulations to approve a Plat of Subdivision for 
a lot width and depth which do not conform to the requirements of the Village of Frankfort 
Zoning Ordinance, in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings 
of fact. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Knieriem 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#10):  Recommend the Village Board approve the Preliminary and Final Plat of 
Subdivision of 219 Pacific Street Subdivision, subject to technical revisions prior to 
recording. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   

C. Public Hearing: Bear Down Barbeque & Catering Company 

Christopher Gruba presented the staff report.  

The applicant, Rashid Riggins, approached the podium to introduce himself and his 
business which is in Frankfort. He stated that his customers frequently go to other 
restaurants, such as Chef Klaus, for a drink before they go to his restaurant to eat. He added 
that he would like to include a service bar for the bartender, which is something that was 
missed by the architect before they submitted the floor plan.  

Staff stated that the bar area would need to be shown on the floor plan so that it can be 
reviewed for compliance and asked where the bar area would be located. 

The applicant stated that he would want to put the bar area by the new bathrooms which 
takes out one table that was shown on the floor plan. He added that the bar table would be 
approximately 6’ long and would have no seating as it would be solely a workstation for 
the bartender. 

Staff stated that there are standards for restaurants with liquor sales including the 
requirement to physically delineate the bar from the dining area. 

Chair Shaeffer asked if Commissioners had any initial questions.  

18

cgruba
Highlight



Commissioner Markunas stated that he visits the business and advised the applicant to work 
on his floor plan so that the Village Board would not have a hard time reviewing for 
approval. 

Commissioner Morris asked the applicant what the hours of operation would be. 

The applicant responded that the business would be open 5 days a week from 7:00am to 
8:00pm. 

There was a consensus that the applicant should work with staff to revise the floor plan to 
show a bar area that is compliant with the standards mentioned in the Zoning Ordinance.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if anyone from the public would like to speak. 

Niambi Riggins, the applicant’s family member, asked if there would need to be one or 
two partition walls since the bar area needs to be compliant with the Zoning Ordinance. 

Chair Schaeffer responded that staff would help guide the applicant with further detail after 
this meeting. 

Chair Schaeffer asked for a motion to continue the public hearing to the next available Plan 
Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals meeting.  

Motion (#11):  To continue and keep open the public hearing until the March 21st, 2024, 
PC/ZBA meeting.  

Motion by: Jakubowski Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   

D. Public Hearing: Magic Massage

Amanda Martinez presented the staff report.

The applicant, Sarah Cai, approached the podium and introduced herself.

Chair Schaeffer asked the applicant if she currently has a business anywhere else.  Ms. Cai
replied no, but that she used to have a business in California.  Chair Schaeffer asked her if
it was also a massage business.  Ms. Cai replied yes, and that she had it for two years before
selling it.

Commissioner Markunas asked if the business would be open every day. Ms. Cai replied
yes, from 10 am – 9 pm.

19



1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                March 21, 2024 

 
Project: Ash Street Public Right-of-Way Vacation  
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing  
Requests: Vacation of a section of Ash Street public right-of-way, generally located at the southern 

terminus of Ash Street. 
Location: Undeveloped public right-of-way    
Applicants:  Charles S. and Susan K. Christensen; Robert D. Rowe Revocable Trust 
Prop. Owner:  Village of Frankfort  
Consultant:  Rudy P. Dixon, PLS, Regional Land Services  
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Parcel/Lot Size: 5,209 square feet               Figure 1: Location Map  
PIN(s): Not applicable 
Existing Zoning:  R-2 Single-Family Residential District 
Prop.  Zoning: R-2 Single-Family Residential District     
Building(s) / Lot(s): None 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Public Right-of-Way Public Right-of-Way R-2 

North  Public Right-of-Way 
 

Public Right-of-Way R-2 

South Single-Family Detached 
Residential  

Single-Family Detached 
Residential 

    R-2 

East Church / Single-Family 
Detached Residential  

Public Institutional / 
Utility / Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

 R-2 

West Single-Family Detached 
Residential 

Single-Family Detached 
Residential 

R-2 

 
Project Summary  
 
The applicants, Charles S. and Susan K. Christensen, owners of real property located at 230 Center Road (PIN 19-09-
28-227-012-0000), and the Robert D. Rowe Revocable Trust, the owner of real property located at 231 Oak Street 
(PIN 19-09-28-226-015-0000), have each filed an application requesting the vacation of a portion of the unimproved 
Ash Street public right-of-way, totaling approximately 5,209 square feet in area, generally located at the southern 
terminus of Ash Street in the Village of Frankfort, Illinois, each with the intention of purchasing a portion of the 
vacated public right-of-way from the Village of Frankfort. 
 

Property Background  
 
The applicants in this matter recently approached the Village about their desire to purchase the undeveloped portion 
of the public right-of-way at the southern terminus of Ash Street to expand the yard areas of their properties.  Both 
property owners have lots which are adjacent to the subject public right-of-way.  The matter was discussed at the 
Committee-of-the-Whole meeting on August 9, 2023 (refer to attached minutes).  Following the Committee meeting 
staff was directed to reach out to leadership of St. Peter’s Church to see if they too would be interested in purchasing 
a portion of the public right-of-way that is adjacent to the church property.  Given the relatively small size and 



2 

triangular shape of the portion of the right-of-way which would have been divided from the overall undeveloped 
public right-of-way, the church declined interest. 
 
The applicants have jointly submitted a Plat of Vacation for the proposed vacation of the public right-of-way (refer 
to attached plat).  The plat has been reviewed and approved by the Village’s Consulting Engineer for accuracy and 
compliance with land surveying standards.  At the request of the Village’s Department of Public Works, the proposed 
public right-of-way to be vacated would begin ten feet (10’) south of the existing edge of the street pavement at the 
terminus of Ash Street, to provide an area for snow to be stored as needed during winter months.  It should be noted 
that the existing chain link fence is owned by the Village.  If the request for vacation of the public right-of-way is 
approved by the Village Board and pending the necessary documents to be prepared by the Village Attorney for the 
conveyance of the property to the applicants, the fence may be removed by the applicants if desired.  It should also 
be noted that the Department of Public Works is not seeking the retainer of any public utility and/or drainage 
easements within any portion of the subject public right-of-way.  The owner of 231 Oak Street recently installed a 
catch basin and underground stormwater pipe to allow the subject area to drain through his property and toward 
the public stormwater mains under Oak Street.  That facility would be privately owned and maintained should the 
vacation be approved.    
 
As depicted on the Plat of Vacation, the vacated public right-of-way would be divided into two tracts.  Tract 1, which 
is 2,541.08 square feet, would be conveyed by the Village to the owner(s) of 231 Oak Street.  Tract 2, which is 
2,667.84 square feet, would be conveyed to the owner(s) of 230 Center Road.  Pursuant to recent Village Board 
policy and application procedures concerning such requests for the vacation of public right-of-way within the Village, 
rather than requiring an appraisal process, any vacated public right-of-way which is less than 7,000 square feet, 
requires a single $1500 fee paid to the Village.  Additionally, the applicant(s) will be responsible for the $200 
application fee and all recording, professional and legal fees associated with the vacation of the property. 
 
The Illinois Compiled Statutes (65 ILCS 5/11-91-1) allow the corporate authorities of a of any municipality, whether 
incorporated by special act or under any general law, determine that the public interest will be subserved by vacating 
any street or alley, or part thereof.   

 
Attachments 

1. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS (1:2257 scale) 
2. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS (1:1128 scale) 
3. Site Photographs taken 3/15/24  
4. Approved Minutes of the 8/9/23 Committee-of-the-Whole Meeting 
5. Plat of Vacation last revised 3/18/24, received 3/19/24 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 
Article 4, Section C, Part 1(a) of the Zoning Ordinance provides: 
 
In the event that uncertainties exist with respect to the intended boundaries of the various districts as shown on the 
Zoning Map, the following rules shall apply:  
 

a. The district boundaries are the center-lines of streets or alleys, unless otherwise indicated. Where 
designation of a boundary line on the Zoning Map coincides with the location of a street or alley, 
easements, railroads, and right of ways, the centerline of such street or alley shall be construed to be the 
boundary of such district.  

 



3 

Based on the above rule, the subject public right-of-way is zoned R-2 Single-Family Residential District, the same as 
the adjacent properties, and would remain zoned as such should the requested public right-of-way vacation be 
approved. 
 
Affirmative Motion   
    For the Commission’s consideration, staff provides the following potential affirmative motion: 

1. Recommend to the Village Board approval of the Plat of Vacation of a portion of the unimproved Ash Street 
public right-of-way, totaling approximately 5,209 square feet in area, generally located at the southern 
terminus of Ash Street, in accordance with the approved plans and public testimony, and subject to any 
necessary technical revisions prior to recording. 
 
 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

Ash Street Public Right-of-Way Vacation

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

3/15/2024 Date:

0.04

Address Points
Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels
Townships



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.04

1: 1,128

0 Miles

Ash Street Public Right-of-Way Vacation

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

3/15/2024 Date:

0.02

Address Points
Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels
Townships



Site Photos – Ash Street Public Right-of-Way Vacation 

 

Figure 1:  Southern terminus of Ash Street, view looking south from roadway. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2:   Southern terminus of Ash Street, view looking south from roadway. 

 
    



   

 

   Figure 3: Rear yard of 231 Oak Street, view looking southwest from Ash Street. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Figure 4:  Rear yard of 230 Center Road (visible beyond fence), view looking southwest from Ash Street. 

 
 







mschwarz
Received



                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                March 21, 2024 

 
Project: Triple Crown Training 
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing  
Requests: Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation 
Location: 9426 Corsair Road 
Applicant:  David W. Posley Jr.  
Prop. Owner:  UMC Meds, LLC 
Consultants:  None  
Representative: Applicant  
Report By:  Amanda Martinez, Planner 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 44,536 sq. ft. (±1 Acres)                                                                   Figure 1. Location Map 
 PIN(s): 19-09-34-302-013-0000 
Existing Zoning:  I-1 
Prop.  Zoning: I-1 with a Special Use Permit for Indoor 

Recreation  
Buildings / Lots: 1 building / 1 lot 
Total Sq. Ft.: ±12,000 sq. ft. 
Average Lot Size: N/A 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property Industrial Industrial I-1 

North Industrial Industrial I-1 

South  Industrial Industrial I-1 

East Industrial Industrial I-1 

West Industrial Industrial I-1 

 
Project Summary  
The applicant, David W. Posley Jr., representing Triple Crown Training LLC, a tenant/lessee on behalf of the property owner, UMC 
Meds, LLC, has filed an application requesting a Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation to open an indoor baseball training facility 
at 9426 Corsair Road. The subject property is zoned I-1 light industry district and is located within the Airport Industrial Park.  A 
Special Use Permit was granted in 2012 (Ord. 2806) for a similar operation (National Rhino Sports Academy) at this location. The 
longevity of the discontinuance of the special use requires the business to obtain a new Special Use Permit.  

Attachments 
1. Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
2. Site Photographs taken 3.1.24 
3. ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey dated 9.29.21 and received 2.15.24 
4. Floor Plan received 2.16.24 
5. Revised Floor Plan received 2.23.24 



6. Site Plan received 3.11.24 
7. Property Owner Request for Parking Adjustment email received 3.11.24 
8. Example of a Special Use Permit with Parking Conditions (Ordinance 2639) 
9. Business Operation Letter received 2.22.24 
10. Top Velocity Program Brochure received 2.14.24  
11. Top Velocity Website Homepage  
12. Draft PC/ZBA Meeting Minutes from on March 7, 2024 
13. Findings of Fact provided by applicant and received 2.16.24 
14.   Special Use Permit Findings of Fact Form for Plan Commissioners  

 
Updates from Workshop Meeting 
For the public hearing, staff provides the following updates from the March 7, 2024, Plan Commission meeting 
which held the workshop for this project: 
 
General Updates 

• The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation. In kind, the applicant is requesting a 
parking adjustment for the required number of parking spaces associated with the proposed Indoor 
Recreation use.  

• Staff would like to emphasize that the ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey shows a 60-foot drainage easement in the 
rear of the property, which seems to be standard for the lots within the Airport Industrial Park Subdivision. 

• The applicant is required to provide 64 parking spaces for the proposed Indoor recreation use. 
Staff believes that only approximately 17 parking spaces would be feasible on the site due to the 
60-foot drainage easement that is located in the rear of the property, required setbacks, and 
required dimensions (see the attached “example site plan” that staff provided to the applicant 
for guidance before their site plan was submitted).  

• Staff notes that the applicant is allowed to move forward with a request for a parking adjustment 
(rather than a variation) as the Commission is allowed to approve or deny parking adjustments. 

 
Requests from Applicant  

• The parking adjustment being requested is for either the existing parking spaces or the feasible number of 
parking spaces that are added onto the site plan. The applicant has stated their intention is to have their business 
operate by pick up and drop off. The property owner has stated that the property has sufficient parking. Staff 
attached the property owner’s request for a parking adjustment to this staff report. 

• The property owner worked with staff on providing additional parking spaces to the site plan (see the attached 
site plan).   

• The property owner would like to leave the subject property as-is, regardless of any non-conformities. The 
property owner stated that the property should be left as-is because there are nearby properties that also do 
not comply with the Village’s requirements. 

 

Requests from Staff 

• Staff requested the applicant to submit an application for a parking variation since there is a land 
related hardship to provide adequate parking requested by the Commission, staff, and the 
Zoning Ordinance (staff notes that on-street parking spaces do not count towards a private 
development’s required off-street parking spaces).  

o The property owner responded that they disagree and denied staff’s request for a 
parking variation.  

• The property owner submitted a site plan showing 15 parking spaces in the front parking lot. Staff notes that 
although there are more parking spaces being shown on the site, there would need to be compliance with the 



requirements regarding the improvements to the parking lot, which have not been shown on the submitted 
site plan. 

o Staff advised the applicant to revise the submitted site plan to depict compliance with the Village’s 
Zoning Ordinance, Municipal Code, Design Standards, and Landscape Ordinance (i.e. drive aisle 
width, parking stall dimensions, ADA requirements, pavement type, pavement setback, and 
landscaping requirements). The property owner responded that a new site plan will not be 
provided. 

• Staff requested the applicant to revise the floor plan to confirm that the trash bin will be located 
indoors, which would meet the Village’s requirement regarding trash screening and handling in 
industrial districts. 

o The applicant did not provide a revised floor plan as requested. 
o The property owner responded that they would not be changing how the property 

currently handles trash (trash bin will be located outdoors, unscreened as shown in 
aerial images and site visit pictures). The property owner provided that the reason is 
due to other industrial properties are also incompliant with this requirement.  

• Staff requested the property owner revise the site plan to show the removal of the non-
conforming gravel, especially where there is gravel within the public utility & drainage easement, 
and the trash handling taking place on the site.  

o Staff advised the property owner to revise the site plan to show grass instead of gravel, 
especially the gravel that has been placed in the 60-foot drainage easement that is in 
the rear of the property. The property owner responded that a new site plan will not be 
provided. 

 
Analysis 
In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 
Proposed Use 

• The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation to operate a private indoor baseball 
training facility at 9426 Corsair Road.  

• The subject property consists of a ±12,000 square foot industrial building on a ± 1-acre lot located within the 
Airport Industrial Park.  

• The subject site would be a new franchise location for the business known as Triple Crown 
Training which facilitates the “Top Velocity Academy Program”, a baseball training program that 
consists of high-quality equipment, curriculum, and coaches.  

• Existing franchise locations are: 
 

o Top Velocity Head Quarters located in Covington, Louisiana 
o Top Velocity York located in York, Pennsylvania 
o Top Velocity Dayton located in Moraine, Ohio 
o Top Velocity Charlotte located in Pineville, North Carolina 
o Top Velocity Argyle located in Argyle, Texas 
o Top Velocity San Diego located in San Diego, California 
o Top Velocity Burlingame located in Burlingame, California 
o Top Velocity Central Long Island located in Bohemia, New York 
o Top Velocity Boca Raton located in Boca Raton, Florida 
o Top Velocity Nampa located in Nampa, Idaho 
o Top Velocity Salado located in Salado, Texas 

 
• The applicant stated that the space is still intact from the previous baseball training facility that used the space. 
• Per the submitted ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey, the vestibule is 31.79’ x 60.90’ (per the 

submitted floor plan, the vestibule is approximately 39’ x 9’ 6” and has two bathrooms). After 



entering the vestibule, patrons would then enter the turf and netted area that is approximately 
109’ x 79’.  

• Per the submitted floor plan, there will be a 2’ x 6’ counter for retail products, ancillary to their use 
but a staple part of their Top Velocity Academy Program since they offer nutritional guidance and 
supplements as part of the program. The submitted floor plan shows that the counter will be in 
the very front of the space.  

• Per the submitted floor plan, there will be 5 pitching and throwing lanes in the approximately 18’7” 
x 47’ 8” room in the rear of the space. The floor plan also shows an approximately 18’7” x 47’ 8” 
weight room next to the pitching/throwing room. 

• Per the submitted business operations letter, the business would have 4 employees on-site (2 of 
the 4 are the main coaches). 

• The business intends to have the training facility mainly for players that are members of their 
program. The applicant verbally stated that the business will be open to the public as well as the 
members of their programs. 

• Per the submitted business operation letter, the business would allow teams to have a contract 
with the business. The teams (approximately 8 teams) would have an assigned time to be at the 
facility. The teams will have 2 days a week of 2-hour training. 

• Per the submitted business operation letter, the business would have 2 programs, Top Velocity 
Academy Program and Start Right Training. The Start Right Training program would occur 2-5 days 
a week for 8 weeks. The Top Velocity Academy Program brochure is attached to this staff report; 
according to the Top Velocity website, this program operates 5 days a week. 

• The applicant verbally stated that the maximum operating scenario for their business would be 2 
teams which would approximately be 24 people at the facility at the same time (2 teams and 2 
coaches).  

• The applicant is proposing hours of operation within the permissible hours of operation (7am to 
11pm), thus, no special use approval is required for extended hours of operation. 

• The proposed business hours of operation are Monday through Sunday: 7:00am-11:00pm. The 
applicant stated in the business operation letter that the peak hours would be from 5:00pm-
9:00pm. 

• Staff notes that Google Images show a roll out dumpster (no trash enclosure. The applicant would 
need to either revise the floor plan to show where the trash bin goes indoors (the submitted floor 
plan does not show the loading dock area) or implement a trash enclosure on the site plan that 
complies with the Village trash enclosure standards. 
 

Parking  
• In kind with the Special Use Permit request, the applicant is requesting a parking adjustment for the required 

number of parking spaces associated with the proposed Indoor Recreation use.  
• The Zoning Ordinance requires Indoor Recreation facilities to provide “1 parking space for every 4 

patrons based upon the maximum occupancy of the facility, plus 1 parking space for each 
employee during the largest working shift”.  

• The previous baseball training business that was at this location (National Rhino Sports Academy) 
had 10 pitching/batting lanes and the same maximum operation of 2 teams (approximately 24 
people including the coaches); the previous baseball training business was required to provide 6 
parking spaces. Staff at the time referenced the American Planning Association parking standards 
that suggested 1-4 parking stalls per batting cage and used the maximum operating occupancy.  

• To be consistent, staff referred to the parking analysis that was provided for the previous baseball 
training business. According to the submitted floor plan and the American Planning Association 
parking standards, the 5 pitching/throwing lanes would yield a requirement of 5-20 parking stalls. 
According to the applicant, the “maximum operating scenario” (no definition in the Zoning 
Ordinance) would be 2 teams (approximately 24 people including the coaches). According to the 



submitted business operation letter, there will be at most 4 employees during peak hours. The 
required number of parking spaces for the proposed use would equate to 8 spaces. 

• If staff were to take a more stringent approach and conduct the parking analysis based on 
“maximum occupancy”, as mentioned in the Zoning Ordinance, the required number of parking 
spaces for the proposed use would equate to 64 spaces. 

• The submitted ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey shows that there are 7 existing parking spaces 
provided on the subject site.  

• The west side of the parking lot and the rear of the subject lot is unpaved, gravel (Will County GIS 
aerial images show that the gravel was put in between 2015-2017 with a setback from the west 
property line; then in 2018, the gravel was extended to the property line).  

• Staff requested the applicant to pave the rest of the lot to comply with the Zoning Ordinance and 
provide additional parking. The Zoning Ordinance requires all off-street parking, except in a single-
family district, to be improved with concrete curb and gutter and paved surface (not gravel). The 
applicant responded that the gravel area is fenced off and would restrict parking in the rear (see 
the submitted ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey for fence location). The applicant also mentioned that 
there will not be a demand for more parking since they mostly see a drop-off and pick-up operation 
for their programs and that the business will not be providing an indoor waiting/gathering area.  
 

Standards for Parking Adjustments  
 

Article 7 Section B Part 5 in the Village Ordinance provides for parking adjustments to the minimum number of 
parking spaces required, subject to case-by-case approval by the Plan Commission. The following provisions and 
factors shall be used as a basis to adjust parking requirements: 

 
1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements. The petitioner shall 

submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that the operation will 
require less parking than the Ordinance requires. 

 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written documentation to the 

satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared, or off-site parking spaces are available to satisfy the 
parking demand. 

 
a. Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either parking lots are large 

enough to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or that parking spaces will be shared at 
specific times of the day (shared parking, where one activity uses the spaces during daytime hours 
and another activity uses the spaces during evening hours.) 

 
b. Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the required parking and shall 

be located not more than three-hundred (300) feet from the principal use that it is intended to 
serve.” 

 

Standards for Special Uses  
Article 3, Section B, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan 
Commission must use to evaluate every special use request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan 
Commission, unless such Commission shall find:  
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or endanger, 
the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 



b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 
vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  
 

e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which 
it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant 
to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.  

 

Affirmative Motion    

For the Plan Commission’s consideration, staff is providing the following proposed affirmative motion for the 
special use request:  

1. Approve an adjustment to the minimum number of required parking spaces to allow the existing 7 parking 
subject property for the proposed Indoor Recreation Use;  
 

OR 
 
Approve an adjustment to the minimum number of required parking spaces to allow the applicant’s 
proposed 15 parking spaces to serve the proposed Indoor Recreation Use; and 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for Indoor Recreation (baseball training facility) in the 
I-1 Light Industrial District for the property located at 9426 Corsair Road, Frankfort, IL 60423 (PIN: 19-09-34-302-013-
0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, subject to the 
following two (2) conditions:   

a. The applicant shall provide a revised site plan that demonstrates that the site is with compliant 
parking lot and landscape requirements subject to staff approval (and engineer approval if 
necessary). 

b. The applicant shall remove all gravel that has not been permitted.  



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

9426 S. Corsair Rd.

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

3/1/2024 Date:

0.04

Address Points
Parcels
Townships



Site Visit Photos Taken on 3.1.24 

 

 







From: Legacy Adviser
To: Amanda Martinez; Corey Stallings; Cutrice Stallings; O H
Subject: Floor Plan* Edit
Date: Thursday, February 22, 2024 4:12:44 PM
Attachments: Triple Crown Training FloorPlan.png

CAUTION: This e-mail originated outside of the Village's email system.
DO NOT click links or open attachments unless you confirm the incoming address of the sender and know the content is safe.

See attached

mailto:adviser@thelegacyathlete.com
mailto:amartinez@frankfortil.org
mailto:cstallingssr@gmail.com
mailto:cutrice1422@gmail.com
mailto:ohassad1@gmail.com





From: O H
To: Amanda Martinez; Adam Nielsen; Michael Schwarz; Legacy Adviser; Cutrice Stallings; Corey Stallings
Subject: Re: 9426 Corsair Rd - Triple Crown Training DOCS
Date: Wednesday, March 13, 2024 9:18:43 AM
Attachments: We sent you safe versions of your files.msg

Certified mailing 031124.pdf

CAUTION: This e-mail originated outside of the Village's email system. 
DO NOT click links or open attachments unless you confirm the incoming address of the
sender and know the content is safe. 

Mimecast Attachment Protection has deemed this file to be safe, but always exercise caution when opening files.

Certified mailing 031124 sent.

On Mon, Mar 11, 2024 at 7:53 PM O H <ohassad1@gmail.com> wrote:
Attached is the site plan purchased from https://getasiteplan.com/ which shows the proposed
parking. There are 15-18 parking spots available on the existing concrete (not including the
street parking available).

I do not believe this was necessary to purchase as the plat of survey shows the same
information. I am doing this to comply with the Frankfort Code. 

I have already expressed my frustration via email and in person regarding the disregard for
enforcing codes across the board. Truly, this makes me feel like it's discriminatory as it is
blatantly obvious my neighbors are not following code. 

I purchased this property in 2018. It was still set up as National Rhino Sports
Academy when I received ownership. Clearly there was an existing baseball training
academy 2012-2015 without issue, otherwise if there was a special permit or parking
issue, the building would have been up to code prior to my purchase. Triple Crown
Training is a drop off operation. There is still adequate parking available on the
driveway. There is also free street parking. Triple crown can easily follow National
Rhino Sports Academy's workflow operation to avoid the parking issue before I invest
100k+ into asphalting the property. 
Image 1 attached shows my Property and neighbors'. Clearly they are not up to code
as they asphalted beyond the easement and the city did nothing about it. You are
trying to force me to asphalt but I can only asphalt 60ft away from the property line.
The Neighbor is now causing me an issue with water running off into my property
becauses they did not follow code and you did not enforce it upon them. 
Image 2 + 20240309_124756.jpg  + 20240309_124811.jpg attached: The property on
22763 S Center Rd, Frankfort, IL 60423, Arctic Snow and Ice Control has gravel
parking during business hours and overnight. This is not code. 

Please keep the scheduled public hearing regarding 9426 Corsair Rd. If this is removed from
the agenda, my legal team is prepared to take action.  

mailto:ohassad1@gmail.com
mailto:amartinez@frankfortil.org
mailto:anielsen@frankfortil.org
mailto:mschwarz@frankfortil.org
mailto:Adviser@thelegacyathlete.com
mailto:cutrice1422@gmail.com
mailto:cstallingssr@gmail.com
mailto:ohassad1@gmail.com
https://url.us.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/p-t_Cqx9Wjs40yzCZfnN7?domain=getasiteplan.com/

We sent you safe versions of your files

		From

		postmaster@frankfortil.org

		To

		Amanda Martinez

		Recipients

		amartinez@frankfortil.org



 	


 		


 	





We sent you safe copies of the attached files








If you want the originals, you can request them.





	


 	


Files


 	


Certified mailing 031124.pdf (229.6 KB)


	


	


 	


Message Details





 	


From





"O H" <ohassad1@gmail.com>





Subject





Re: 9426 Corsair Rd - Triple Crown Training DOCS





Sent





13 Mar 2024 10:19





	


 	


Request Files	


	


 	


 	


 


 	


© 2015 - 2018 Mimecast Services Limited.


 	


	


                                                           


























ORDINANCE NO. 2639 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2519 TO PERMIT INSTALLATION 

OF AN INDOOR CUSTOMER SEA TING AREA FOR THE GREAT AMERICAN 
BAGEL CARRY-OUT RESTAURANT LOCATED AT 9326 CORSAIR ROAD, 

FRANKFORT, WILL AND COOK COUNTIES, ILLINOIS, 

WHEREAS, an application to amend the existing Special Use Permit for The Great 
American Bagel carry-out restaurant, located within the Village of Frankfort, legally described 
below, was filed by Wayne Flatley, Applicant, and TGAB Real Estate LLC, Owner, 7600 S. County 
Line Road, Burr Ridge, 111inois 60527; and 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property, commonly known as 9326 Corsair Road in the Airport 
Industrial Park, is currently zoned I-1 Limited Industrial District with a Special Use Pennit for a 
carry-out restaurant; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant seeks to modify the existing Special Use Pem1it granted by 
Ordinance No. 25 19 for a carry-out restaurant to permit the installation of an indoor customer 
seating area on the Subject Prope1ty; and 

WHEREAS, the Village would not otherwise permit the installation of an indoor customer 
seating area until the previously required parking lot improvements are complete; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant proposes to deposit with the Village a $55,000 performance 
deposit to assure construction of an 11-stall parking Jot at the northern end of the property in the 
spring of 2010, in accordance with the engineering plans prepared by Joseph A. Schudt & 
Associates, dated 11 .19.09 and attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS, the Village agrees to permit the Applicant to move forward with the 
installation of the indoor customer seating area and defer construction of the parking lot until spring 
of20l0; and 

WHEREAS, the Village shall return the performance deposit to the Applicant in full upon 
construction of the parking lot improvements, in accordance with the engineering p lans prepared by 
Joseph A. Scbudt & Associates, dated I 1.19.09 and attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS, a timely Notice of Public Hearings before the Plan Commission/Zoning Board 
of Appeals of the Village of Frankfort was published in the Frankfort Station Newspaper 
announcing a Public Hearing on the Owner's application for an amendment to the Special Use 
Permit for the Subject Property; and 

WHEREAS, at a time and place designated in such published notice, a Public Hearing was 
held before the Village of Frankfort Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals on the Owner's 
application for an amendment to the Special Use Pennit for the Subject Property; and 



WHEREAS, the Frankfort Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals has made special 
written Findings-of-Fact as required by the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance 2001; and 

WHEREAS, the Frankfort Plan Commission recommended to the Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Frankfort that the Subject Property be granted an amendment to Ordinance No. 2519 to 
permit installation of an indoor customer seating area on the Subject Property, with conditions as 
enumerated in Section 1 of this Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT, WILL AND COOK COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 

ORDINANCE NO. 2519 is hereby amended to read as follows: 

SECTION 1. SPECIAL USE PERMIT 

That the following described real property to wit: 

PIN: 19- 09-34-327-008 
LOT 40, IN AIRPORT INDUSTRIAL PARK UNIT 2, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF 
THE NORTH 80 ACRES OF THE SOUTHWEST~ OF SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 35 NORTH, 
RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT 
THEREOF RECORDED NOVEMBER 29, 1990, AS DOCUMENTR90-65424, WILL COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS, commonly known as 9326 Corsair Road in the Airport Industrial Park, Frankfort, Will 
County, Illinois, which is the property subject to the previously described application for a Special 
Use Permit, is hereby granted a Special Use Permit for a carry-out restaurant and indoor customer 
seating area, in accordance with the reviewed plans and conditioned upon construction of an 11 
stall parking lot at the northern end of the property, in accordance with the engineering plans 
prepared by Joseph A. Schudt & Associates, dated 11.19.09 and attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

SECTION 2. ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

That the Zoning Map of the Village of Frankfort is hereby amended to reflect the Subject 
Property is rezoned to I-1 Limited Industrial District with a Special Use Permit for a carry-out 
restaurant with indoor customer seating as provided under this Ordinance and the Village of 
Frankfort Zoning Ordinance. 

SECTION 3. REPEALER 

That all other ordinances or parts or provisions of ordinances of the Village of Frankfo11, 
which are inconsistent with this Ordinance, are hereby expressly repealed. 

2 



~-

SECTION 4. SEVERABILITY 

In the event any word, phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, provision, or section of this 
Ordinance or any portion thereof shall be held to be unconstitutional, unenforceable, or void, the 
same shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any remaining words, phrases, clauses, 
sentences, paragraphs, provisions, or sections thereof. 

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE 

The Ordinance shall take effect after its passage, approval, and publication in pamphlet form, 
as regulated by law. 

PASS ED, this 2nd day of March, 2010, with five members voting A YE; no members 

voting NAY; and one member ABSENT; the President not voting; with no members abstaining 

and said vote being: 

KEVIN EGAN ABSENT CYNTHIA CORSO HEATH 

TODDS. MORGAN MIKE STEVENS AYE 

RJCHARD TREV ARTHAN A YE R. DOUGLAS WALKER AYE 

APPROVED this 2nd day of March, 2010. 
·' __ ... --· 

. . o \ · ; i_ I .. 
.-.....\\~". - . ... "" -....,. ._-.. ---. 
, .· r_ · . . .-

c : 
-~-- .. ~ 

HOLLAND 
VILLAGE PRESIDENT ,,... . _.... 

.... . "-?~ _ . ..... ,-: 

A ~TEST:·:;;..: -~ 

3 





J' 
r .. I . 

WHCrt'll: :.f I 

. l 
LOT 24,. : 

A"PHAl,I ~ 

I 
I 
I 
I 

l , :'· 

TALL ONE STORY 
BLOCK AND METAL SIDING 

BUILDING 
TF • 777 .. 1 

~""'] 
r• 

,: l ' 

:r: 

' . LK 
." 

·'. ~I\ 

-· d 

/,07' 4 1 

TALL ONE STORY 
BLOCK AND METAL SIDING 

BUILDING 
TF • 774.73 

ROAD ---

......... 

' . .' 

CRAPtllC SC.ALE 

ko-w-U-: 

LEGEND 
G u •~.,. ,."~!11-"Wf&~L 

0 :~~::~=~· 
lllnOf'Olit"OloOtn.,...,..,.0.1 

:::.:. ' - ..-nM'D .......... .,. 

• • 
• l"ftO"OllfDllAl.Vl'<'t~••ll. 1 

~OW&JVI~ 

" .. 
• 1.UlNOCA~-

• e ""O"OY:DCOlO<lfl.lf-... 

~llOPO&EftC\Allt&"1 

" ~llUP'OSEO 51(".oNo.w...oi,.F 

• """'11'Ct1C~C"i01,,...._n 

ltllnl'(ll!r.l)5J('llW~ 11"0f 

II 

• 
(I 

Ill 

-· -··~ttll~c,..a..,, 

•-nu.-.H~e.....t 

CtOOQ l"!lll)l'OSIOS, Oo.o>1F'll1<CC. 

~MtOl"Ql\CO~l lNI: 

... Ltllfl~~to9!rw.:Wl\'t ll 

~~·• M<o."9 

l'AO"()li:C!Of>~V(MftlT IWJIOV£1J(HT D 
1'"'°"'°8~0f'•W[M(Nl 11'11'1'1NQ • 

~ -:3 ·-..t: 
OJ >< • w 0 

"' 
g~ ., ... ' ;;! · - 0: a'l goo z ...... 

~ ~~ . ..: ~ 
~!!': ... @ 

- w :s 
'O => 
:; z 0 s ii ~g z 

Cl) '"i .... 
~ 

< ~~ i5 
"' .c ... ,.. 

c.. d cb ~ 
"':i: o 
~ ·'"' .., 
-. VI W z 

Oz ~ 
"'o 

~ "':r 
~Q. 

;:;~;~ 

" 
~ z 
13 z .... 
;j 
0 

Ct) 

~ 
~ 
~ "4 <'. ::,.. .... ~ 
0 0: (l:; h 
~ 0.:: 

~ 0 .... 
~ ..... Ct) 

0 ~ 8: ...;i ~ 0 
~ ~ 







2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 1/11

TOP VELOCITY PERFORMANCE
CENTERS
IF YOU WANT TO TRAIN WITH THE BEST PLAYER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM IN THE
NATION, TOP VELOCITY IS THE PLACE TO BE!

THE PURPOSE OF
TOP VELOCITY PERFORMANCE CENTERS

In 2020, due to the overwhelming demand of coaches and players throughout the world, Top
Velocity™ set out on a mission to bring Top Velocity™ methods to local communities.  Through

    HOME LOCATIONS FRANCHISE INFO REQUEST CONTACT UU

    985-867-8536  info@topvelocity.net   

https://www.topvelocity.center/
https://www.topvelocity.center/
https://www.topvelocity.center/
https://www.topvelocity.center/locations/
https://www.topvelocity.center/request-info/
https://www.topvelocity.center/contact/
mailto:info@topvelocity.net
mailto:info@topvelocity.net
http://www.facebook.com/topvelocity
https://twitter.com/topvelocity
https://www.instagram.com/topvelocity/


2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 2/11

our licensed facilities and certified instructors thousands of aspiring athletes will now have
unlimited access to Top Velocity™ training methods in their hometown.

Top Velocity™ programs are specifically designed to enhance the overall athletic performance in
all skilled movements of baseball and softball athletes.  Regardless of your specific position on
the field we have a program for you.    

The Top Velocity™ System of training provides the best player development program in the
world with a progressive curriculum of Science-Based training methods that is proven to help
every athlete reach their full potential.  From 6-year-old athletes to the Pros, the Top Velocity
program provides a proven way to improve your athletic performance NATURALLY while
reducing the risk of injury. 

Top Velocity Performance Centers are an extension of Headquarters and provide a local training
option while maintaining Top Velocity™ standards through our live virtual training.  

Find your nearest location and schedule to attend our next event to experience why Top
Velocity™ has been the industry leader in player development training for 15+ years, helping
thousands of coaches and athletes of all ages through our proven science-based biomechanical
training systems.

THE TOP VELOCITY PROGRAM

What is TopVelocity Baseball Training?What is TopVelocity Baseball Training?

FIND A LOCATION

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=SxKWtpNi-dM


2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 3/11

TAKE A LOOK INSIDE OUR FACILITIES

https://www.topvelocity.center/locations/
https://www.topvelocity.center/locations/
https://www.topvelocity.center/locations/


2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 4/11

START TRAINING NOW!
Each affiliate location follows the successful training format developed over the past 15+ years
that has produced more 90+mph testimonials than any other training program in the game.
 Whether you are just begining your training or an elite performer looking to increase your
performance, Top Velocity and Top Velocity Performance Centers have a program to fit your
needs.

STEPS TO MEMBERSHIP:



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 5/11

PLAYER INTERVIEW

"
First step is to schedule your FREE Player Interview to discuss your goals.  Once you enter the
facility you will see there is something special happening in a Top Velocity Performance Center.
 You will meet with a staff member who will take you on a tour of the facility pointing out all the
special features of a Top Velocity Performance Center.  Make sure to review the goal banners
which will outline how to reach your goals.  

PROGRAM RECOMMENDATION

"
Following your interview you will be provided our best program recommendation based upon
your age, skill level, and goals. 

Standard Program Options:
Start Right Intro Clinic (2 days a week)
Start Right Training (5 days a week)
Top Velocity Academy Training Membership (over 12yoa – 5 days a week)
Clinic
Camp

MEMBERSHIP SELECTED

"
Once you have selected your program you will be registered for your Training Group or specific
class.  Each athlete will establish their Top Velocity account and will be provided access to
education, training, and evaluation systems through an application on their phone or internet
login.  All of our training memberships start with the Complete Evaluation to establish a baseline



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 6/11

of performance and will be provided a customized training program through our artificial
intelligence programming.  If you have selected a clinic or intro class you will receive a base
evaluation to establish general performance metrics to educate the athlete of their current
performance level.  As with all of our introductory clinics, classes, and workshops, we encourage
each athlete to take the next steps towards our unlimited membership options to start training
with a customized training program in our academy program.   

PLAYER EVALUATION

"
The proprietary Top Velocity evaluation assesses over 50 individual measurements which are
entered into the Trademarked Top Velocity Artificial Intelligence Program to establish a baseline
and assess the athletes current ability.  Once the data is entered the athletes will receive their
customized training program with a roadmap to elite metrics.

The Top Velocity Evaluation is an essential step for athletes entering into our training programs
for the following reasons:

1.  Establish a baseline of current ability

2.  Assign Customized Training

3.  Establishment future Goals

4.  Records and Monitors Progress

The Top Velocity evaluation is recommended every 2-4 weeks for those who select the Top
Velocity memership.  After the initial evaluation, each athlete and parent meets individually with
a Team Member to review the results.

3X/2X VELOCITY CAMP

"



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 7/11

The 3X Pitching Velocity Programs and the 2X Position Player Programs were built to develop
the healthily high velocity athlete.  This is the premier offering and the program that has built
the success of Top Velocity.  Each player joining a membership will be provided the complete
camp training with Certified Instructors in your affiliate location who will work directly with your
athlete following Coach Brent via live remote broadcast from headquarters.  This is the $2997
program for the 2 day training and will be included in your Top Velocity Performance Center
Membership at a discount.

START RIGHT TRAINING

"
The Start Right Training Program is provided for the 4 weeks following the attendance of the
3X/2X Velocity Camp to ensure proper proficiency in all med ball and throwing drills.  Weekly
training times provide the instruction needed to master these drills.  For the Athletes who are
not interested in the full commitment of the Membership, they have the option to begin training
through the Start Right Intro Clinic which walks an athlete through the Beginner Drills over a 4-
8 week program.  After completing the intro clinic, athletes who qualify are invited to apply for
membership with all its benefits.  

TOP VELOCITY ACADEMY

"
After the player is properly onboarded into their training program they are provided their
customized Top Velocity Training application on their phone for ease of instruction.  Athletes are
placed in training groups to follow their 5 day a week training program.

REACH YOUR GOALS
Start your customized training platform and study all materials to further your understanding of
what it takes to be a professionally trained athlete.  Re-evaluations should be performed every 2-
4 weeks to establish your next level of training.  Follow the program and reach your goals!

WHY TOP VELOCITY GETS RESULTS!



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 8/11

Start Building Your Baseball Franchise NOW!Start Building Your Baseball Franchise NOW!

WHAT MAKES TOP VELOCITY DIFFERENT?

COMPLETE EVALUATION
With the proprietary Top Velocity evaluation you have the best player evaluation system in the
game.  No matter what level you are currently we will make you better.

EDUCATION
We pride ourself on educating our athletes and providing scientific data to substantiate our
findings.  Top Velocity recommendations are not an opinion but are rather based on science to
allow each athlete to follow a system that produces results as compared to the traditional
anecdotal information provided by most coaches.

MOBILITY TRAINING
A cutting-edge mobility routine to unlock your bodies power production and reduce injury.

DRILLS
A proprietary medicine ball overload velocity training program in addition to a complete
throwing program that significantly reduces injury.

OLYMPIC LIFTING

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=suhB99CmqzI


2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 9/11

A Science built strength and conditioning program to optimize mass, power, and motor control
to develop an explosive elite athlete.

ANAEROBIC CONDITIONING
To enhance high performance stamina and recovery.

NUTRITION PROGRAM
The purpose of this program is to educate the athlete regarding optimal nutrition as part of
optimizing performance and remove misinformation currently on the market.

PITCH DEVELOPMENT
Once on the training program our athlete’s have an opportunity to develop a more complete
arsenal through advanced analysis of spin, pitch grip, and ball release techiques used by the
Pro’s.  

CUSTOMIZED PROGRAMS
Each of our athletes will receive a customized training program following a complete biometric
evaluation.  Our proprietary evaluation and tradermarked Artificial Intelligence program
develops an exact roadmap for each athlete to reach elite metrics following their training
program.

OTHER WAYS TO START WITH TOP VELOCITY!

CLINICS
Not all players are ready for our membership and training model.  Clinics are a great way to get
started and learn better techniques.  Clinics offered are Throwing Velocity, Hitting Velocity,
Catcher Sub 2.0, Weight Training, Speed & Agility, Arm Care, and Nutrition.  

START RIGHT INTRO CLINIC
The Start Right Intro Clinic is a program designed primarily for the under 12 age group to
introduce the Top Velocity methods to athletes covering a course format of 10 different training
agendas focused on throwing and hitting skills development.  This training will teach younger
athletes proper mechanics and introduce advanced training methods in a class setting.



2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 10/11

 Following this training, athletes are eligible to select the Start Right Training Membership which
provides up to 5 day a week training for the commited athlete.

SEASONAL TRAINING
For the multi-sport athlete, our seasonal training programs offer an instructor led program
designed to fast-track an athlete through the Top Velocity methods.  The programs include Off-
Season, Pre-Season, and In-Season group instruction.

HOLIDAY OR SUMMER PROGRAMS
These programs are designed for fun and education.  Each session includes instruction in Top
Velocity methods and competative games to keep your young athlete active during the school
breaks.

TEAM TRAINING
The Team Training program is a special offering that provides a weekly scheduled workout
program for teams looking for an edge.  Each session provides a dynamic warm-up, TopV med
ball drills, baseball drills, and finishes each session with speed & agility training.  Teams are
encouraged to use the batting cage prior to workouts to maximize their training time.  Each
athlete will recieve periodic evaluations to establish a baseline and monitor development
throughout the program.  

READY TO DOMINATE THE COMPETITION?
CLICK THE LINK BELOW TO GET STARTED TODAY!

SIGN UP

Top Velocity Performance Centers, LLC
17588 Hard Hat Dr.
Covington, LA 70433
CONNECT WITH US

   

Sitemap

Terms

Return Policy

Accessibility

Home

About

Locations

Request Info

Contact Us

Customer Support ›

For more information on
our products and services...

https://www.topvelocity.center/contact/
http://www.facebook.com/topvelocity
https://twitter.com/topvelocity
https://www.instagram.com/topvelocity/
https://www.youtube.com/brentpourciau
https://www.topvelocity.center/sitemap
https://www.topvelocity.center/terms
https://www.topvelocity.center/return-policy
https://www.topvelocity.center/accessibility
https://www.topvelocity.center/
https://www.topvelocity.center/about
https://www.topvelocity.center/locations
https://www.topvelocity.center/request-info
https://www.topvelocity.center/contact-us


2/29/24, 8:38 AM Home - TopVelocity Performance Center

https://www.topvelocity.center 11/11

Copyright © 2024 Top Velocity Performance Centers, LLC. All rights reserved



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 9 
 

Chair Schaeffer expressed her general agreement with the proposal.  

Commissioner James said that he appreciated the different design and sustainability.  

Commissioner Markunas said that the materials were well suited for the architecture.  

Mike Schwarz explained the removal of the variation for the proposed metal roof.  He 
stated that staff took a conservative approach in interpreting the language in the Zoning 
Ordinance. Upon further review of the language, staff determined that a variation for the 
metal roof is not required.  He said that the requirement for the masonry siding has always 
been in the Zoning Ordinance and therefore this variation still applies.  The property is not 
located within the downtown boundary and therefore the Residential Design Guidelines 
within the 2019 Comprehensive Plan do not apply.   

Chair Schaeffer said that the property is almost entirely surrounded by commercial uses.  
She said that an all-brick exterior could appear monotonous and that the proposed house is 
“anti-monotony”.  

Motion (#16):  Recommend the Village Board approve a variation request to allow non-
masonry siding for first floor and second-floor building materials on a house proposed on 
Lot B in the Aurthur T. McIntosh and Company’s Kean Avenue, S. 95th Ave. (19-09-22-
300-025-0000), in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and Findings of 
Fact. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by:  Jakubowski  

Approved: (5-0)   

F. Non-Public Hearing: Triple Crown Training 

Amanda Martinez presented the staff report.   

Applicant David Wayne Posley Jr. approached the podium.   

Commissioner Morris asked if they have operations in other states, if this location will be 
a franchisee and if the applicant could explain why they chose Frankfort as a location.  The 
applicant replied that his clients are Frankfort residents, and that the operation will be a 
franchise.  

Commissioner Markunas said that being a franchise, he is assuming that the parent 
company has design standards for how it looks.  The applicant said that there are no plans 
to modify the existing building.   

amartinez
Highlight



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 10 
 

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if he was the owner.  The applicant responded 
that he is a representative of the owners and the lead instructors.  Commissioner Knieriem 
asked if they would only focus on baseball if it was previously a Rhino Sports Academy 
and if Triple Crown would own it.  The applicant replied that they would only focus on 
baseball, that it was in fact a former Rhino facility and that Triple Crown would lease the 
building.  Commissioner Knieriem asked if all sports activities would be indoor, and 
nothing would be outdoors.  The applicant responded that was correct.  The applicant said 
there would be no outdoor field to play baseball because this facility would only be used 
for training and practice.  Commissioner Knieriem said that there is a shortage of this type 
of use in Frankfort.   

Chair Schaeffer asked if the facility would ever be rented out for parties or events.  The 
applicant responded no.  

Chair Schaeffer asked for comments regarding parking.  She said that the gravel in the rear 
yard was not approved to be there and should be removed.  It could either be restored with 
grass or it could be paved for a rear parking lot. She said that since the facility would be 
relatively large, that more on-site parking would likely be required. The applicant noted 
that they would likely prefer to pave the rear yard for parking.  Mike Schwarz noted that 
any new parking lot on site would need to be reviewed for engineering compliance and 
would require curb & gutter, etc.  The plans would need to be prepared by a licensed 
architect or engineer.  The applicant asked the Commission how much parking he needs 
for the proposed use.  Chair Schaeffer replied that that is what is being debated tonight.  
The applicant asked if there were any records showing that parking “spillover” was an issue 
when Rhino was there.  Amanda Martinez noted that Rhino did not have any conditions 
for parking attached to their approval.  She noted that the required parking for Rhino was 
based upon what the applicants said they needed at the time.  However, the code technically 
states that the required parking must be based upon “maximum occupancy”, which would 
equate to 64 parking spaces, which probably won’t be able to fit on site.  The applicant 
responded that this facility would be primarily for pick-up and drop-off of youths and that 
he’d prefer to not spend the money to pave a parking lot expansion.  

Commissioner Markunas asked what the maximum occupancy would be of the facility.  
The applicant responded that there would be a maximum of 2 teams at once, or about 30 
people.  Chair Schaeffer said that most of the players will be young and not driving to the 
facility.  Commissioner Knieriem said that typically, parents pick up and drop off children 
at once, which can lead to a mess of cars at once.  He said that he would prefer it if the site 
plan could be reworked to provide a one-way entrance and one-way exit to allow proper 
circulation.  He said that the existing 5-6 existing parking spaces would be deficient.  He 
said that as an industrial property, he would not want kids being picked up in the streets, 
crossing the street or otherwise being in the street.  He believed that approximately 34-40 



 

Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 3/07/24 | Page 11 
 

on-site parking spaces would be required. Mike Schwarz noted that the property could not 
exceed an impervious lot coverage of 80% and to keep that in mind.  

Commissioner Markunas said that he estimates 2/3rds of the parents would sit in the parking 
lot and read a book while waiting for practice to end. As such, parking will be required on-
site.  Amanda Martinez noted that on-street parking does not technically count toward the 
amount of required parking.  There was general discussion regarding the amount of parking 
that should be required.  The Commission seemed to agree that 30 spaces would be 
required.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked if a trash enclosure was considered, taking into account 
turning movements for emergency vehicles.  Commissioner Markunas asked the applicant 
if they received proper directions.  They replied yes.  

G. Public Comments 

None. 

H. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted that the following projects were approved by the Village Board at its 
meeting on March 4, 2024: 

 
• The Voorn Lawndale Subdivision (preliminary and final plat); and 
• The 39 and 49 E. Bowen Street Wall Massing Variation (Ord. 3441).  

I. Other Business 

None. 

J. Attendance Confirmation (March 21st, 2024) 

Chair Schaeffer asked Commissioners to please let staff know if someone cannot attend 
the next meeting.   

Motion (#13): Adjournment 8:58 P.M. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by: Knieriem 

The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote (5-0). 

Approved March 21st, 2024 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 







 
 

Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form – Special Use Permit 
 

Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every special use permit request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless all the following findings are made. 
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or 

operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

  
YES              NO 
 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the 
use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already 
permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

  
YES              NO 
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not 
impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for 
uses permitted in the district. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will not 
be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of 
construction in the immediate neighborhood or 
the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood. 

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 



e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage 
and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

  
YES              NO 
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be 
taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public 
streets. 

  
YES              NO 
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, 
conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by 
the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 



1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                March 21, 2024 

 
Project: Rhumbar 
Meeting Type:  Workshop #3  
Requests: Special Use for a full-service restaurant with liquor sales; Special Use for outdoor seating; 

Special Use for a drive-up service window; Special Use for a Major Change to the Brookside 
Commons PUD (amending Ordinance No. 2992 from 2015 which amended Ordinance No. 
1895 which granted a Special Use for a Planned Development in 2002) 

Location: 10211 W. Lincoln Highway 
Applicant:  Joji Tirumalareddy, Tulips Chicago LLC dba Rhumbar 
Prop. Owner:  Medha Teja LLC-Frankfort 
Consultants:  William Warman, Architect  
Representative: David Bejgiert, Attorney   
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 1.3 acres (56,628 SF)                                                              Figure 1: Location Map  
PIN(s): 19-09-21-304-021-0000 
Existing Zoning:  B-4 Office District, PUD 
Prop.  Zoning: B-4 Office District, PUD, with a Special Use 
 for a Full-Service Restaurant with Liquor Sales; 
 Special Use for Outdoor Seating; Special Use for a 
 Drive-up service window  
Building(s) / Lot(s): 1 building (7,061 SF) / 1 lot 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Restaurant General Commercial B4 PUD 

North  Residential 
 

Single-Family 
Residential 

R-2 

South  Office General Commercial   B4 PUD 

East Office  General Commercial B4 PUD 

West Restaurant  General Commercial B4 PUD 

 
Project Summary  
 
The applicant, Joji Tirumalareddy, has filed an application requesting approval of a Special Use for a full-service 
restaurant with liquor sales; a Special Use for outdoor seating; a Special Use for a drive-up service window; and a 
Major Change to the Brookside Commons PUD (amending Ordinance No. 1895 which granted a Special Use for a 
Planned Development in 2002), for the subject property located at 10211 W. Lincoln Highway.  Joji Tirumalreddy 
holds 100 percent interest in Tulips Chicago LLC doing business as Rhumbar.  Medha Teja LLC is the real estate 
company holding the ownership of the building.  Tulips Chicago LLC is leasing the property from Medha Teja LLC. 
 
The applicant proposes to open a new restaurant to be named Rhumbar.  The subject building was most recently 
occupied by Simply Smokin BBQ however has been vacant for many years.  In 2015, the same applicant requested 
and was granted these same requests (not including the Special Use for a drive-up service window) but was not 
granted a liquor license and never opened the restaurant.  On October 5, 2015, the Village Board approved 



2 

Ordinance No. 2990 which granted a Special Use for a full-service restaurant with liquor sales; Ordinance No. 2991 
which granted a Special Use for outdoor seating; and Ordinance No. 2992 which granted a Major Change to the 
Brookside Commons Office Centre PUD.  Given that the Special Uses never commenced on the property, the 
applicant must re-apply and again go through the Village’s review process.  Following the first workshop held on 
June 9, 2022, the applicant removed the proposed small addition at the southwest corner of the building to add an 
exterior cooler and removed the proposed new covered vestibule at the northeast corner of the building.  Since the 
second workshop on October 13, 2022, the applicant has decided to replace the existing stucco material on the 
entrance tower with an applied brick veneer as well as to make minor exterior repairs as necessary.  In the past few 
months, the applicant has expressed to Village staff a desire to re-establish the drive-through facility for conventional 
drive-up ordering and pick-up.  However, staff explained to the applicant that this idea was generally not supported 
by the Plan Commission at the second workshop.  Therefore, the applicant is now only seeking to re-establish the 
existing drive-through facility for call-ahead ordering only. 
 

Attachments 
1. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS (1:1,128 scale) 
2. Site Photos taken on 5.19.22 
3. Site Photos taken on 3.15.24 
4. Interior Renovation Plans last revised 1.19.24, received 1.19.24  
5. North Elevation last revised 12.19.23, received 2.22.24 
6. Approved Minutes of the PC/ZBA Meeting on 6.9.22 
7. Approved Minutes of the PC/ZBA Meeting on 10.13.22 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 
Full-Service Restaurant with Liquor Sales 

• The sale of liquor is typical in connection with full-service restaurants in Frankfort. 
 

• The Village of Frankfort Municipal Code contains several special use categories addressing a wide range of 
liquor sales operations, each with their own corresponding standards. 
 

• Rhumbar is classified as a full-service restaurant with liquor sales and is subject to the following use 
standards: 
 

1. Bar and lounge areas within the restaurant shall not contain more than 25% of the total number 
of seats located within the premises nor shall they exceed 25% of the total customer floor area.  A 
total of 65 seats are labeled in the bar area (7 bar stools and 58 seats at tables).  A total of 257 
interior seats are shown (185 seats on the first floor and 72 seats on the mezzanine level).  The 
proposed 36 outdoor seats are not counted toward this calculation.  Therefore, the proposed 65 
seats in the bar area equate to 25.29% of the 257 total interior seats.  This slightly exceeds the 
maximum ratio allowed by the Liquor Ordinance.  (Does not comply - A minimum of 1 seat would 
need to be removed from the bar area to achieve compliance.) 

2. Bar and lounge areas within the restaurant shall not exceed 25% of the total customer floor area.  
The submitted floor plans indicate that the dining area on both floors is 4,788 square feet and the 
bar area located on the first floor is 1,029 square feet.  Therefore, the proposed bar area is 21.5% 
of the total dining floor area and complies with the requirement.  (Complies.) 

3. Bar and lounge areas within the restaurant shall be reasonably delineated from the dining area by 
a wall, partition or similar permanent and physical improvement.  A wall with three doorway 
openings separates the bar area from the first-floor dining area.  (Complies.) 



3 

4. Amusement devices are not permitted.  (Complies - No amusement devices are shown on the floor 
plans.) 

5. Electronic video displays and their accompanying audio, including but not limited to televisions 
and projection screens, shall not be located or transmitted outside of the dedicated bar or lounge 
area.  (Complies – all televisions and their sound will be limited to the dedicated bar area.) 

6. All menu items and specials shall be available until one hour prior to closing and shall be prepared 
and cooked by an on-site kitchen staff.  (Complies - all food will available until close).   

• Significant interior renovation is proposed to comply with the standards for this Special Use, as the existing 
bar is centrally located and not delineated from the dining area. 
 

• The applicant’s 2015 liquor license request included a request for live entertainment.  The 2015 plans 
depicted a 5’ x 7’ stage in the northwest corner of the bar area.  The 2015 liquor license request was not 
approved by the Village Board.  The applicant continued to submit a Floor Plan that depicted a small 
entertainment stage during the workshops held in June and October of 2022.  A triangular approximate 50-
60 square-foot stage was depicted on the proposed First Floor Plan in the northwest corner which appears 
to signify that regular entertainment was intended.  The current Floor Plan  submittal indicates that the 
previously shown stage is no longer proposed. 
 

• The subject property was designed and intended for restaurant use as part of the PUD approval for the 
original Brookside Commons office complex.  All previous tenants have used the building as a restaurant. 
 

• Previous restaurant tenants have provided liquor sales at this location. 
 

• During the 2015 workshop meeting Commissioners discussed parking availability in the immediate area 
noting that daytime parking is limited.  The eastern portion of the Brookside Commons office complex 
contains 6 office buildings and 2 restaurants which together share 123 parking spaces.  Below is a 
breakdown of Village ordinance requirements based on use and square footage: 
 
 

Use Square Footage Ordinance Provision Required Parking 
Office 25,500 5 / 1,000 sq. ft.  127 

Restaurant 9,843 10 / 1,000 sq. ft.  98 

  total required 225 
 

• Although technically deficient with respect to Zoning Ordinance requirements (225 spaces required / 123 
provided) the original PUD for the Brookside Commons office complex took into consideration shared 
parking opportunities and offset peak hours of operation.  Whereas the office users utilize the majority of 
the parking spaces during the weekdays, restaurants typically utilize the parking spaces during the evenings 
and on weekends. 
 

• Despite shared parking opportunities it is reasonable to assume that restaurant parking availability will be 
limited during the late afternoon and early evening hours on weekdays where restaurant and office hours 
overlap.  Staff has asked the applicant to consider potential off-site parking opportunities, such as a lease 
agreement with one or more neighboring businesses such as Avanti Furniture and/or Cole Digital.  To date, 
the applicant has not indicated if such off-site lease agreements have been explored. 
 

• Commissioners are encouraged to consider that any use of the vacant building will increase parking demand 
beyond present day observations.  If the subject building was converted to an office use, overall parking 
requirements would be reduced to 192 spaces. However more of the parking would be in demand during 
the weekday daytime hours and any shared parking / offset peak hour efficiencies would be reduced or 
eliminated. 
 

 



4 

 

Extended Hours 

• The Zoning Ordinance limits the permissible hours of operation for commercial businesses to the hours of 
7:00 am to 11:00 pm. Establishments that operate outside of those hours must be approved to do so 
through a Special Use Permit. 

 
• The applicant has not applied for extended hours of operation at this time. 

 
• Following the 2015 workshop meeting the applicant agreed to limit his requested hours of operation to 

11:00 pm during the week and 12:00 pm on Friday and Saturdays only.  The initial 2015 proposal 
contemplated 1:00 am daily operation. 
 

• The 2015 staff report noted that the Village previously approved extended hours of operation until 12:00 
am or later for several full-service restaurants with liquor sales including Jameson’s, Tommy Nevins (since 
closed), Buffalo Wild Wings, Francesca’s, and La Dolce Vita. 
 

• None of the previous restaurant tenants at this location requested extended hours of operation. 
 

Outdoor Seating  
 

• Outdoor seating areas require approval of a Special Use within the B-4 Office District.  
 

• The applicant intends to provide outdoor seating on the existing concrete patio area north and east of the 
primary entrance.  9 patio tables with 4 chairs each are proposed, for a total of 36 proposed outdoor seats. 
 

• The 2015 Site Plan reflected 36 seats in the proposed outdoor seating area (68 seats initially were 
proposed).   
 

• The Village’s Municipal Code requires that outdoor seating areas must be enclosed by a fence or wall with 
a minimum height of 3’ where liquor sales are provided.  The applicant previously proposed to install a 4’ 
ornamental iron fence enclosing the entire outdoor seating area.  The color 3D renderings that were 
submitted for the 2022 workshops indicated black metal open style fencing around the outdoor seating 
area.  Specifications for the fencing have not been provided at this time.   
 

• In 2015, the submitted site plan showed that at the eastern end of the outdoor seating area the proposed 
fence would have extended to the edge of the parking lot.  At the 2015 workshop meeting Commissioners 
requested the fence be shifted ±8’ to the west to allow use of the existing customer drop off / pickup area 
and to limit potential maintenance issues due to vehicular damage.  The current Site Plan submittal appears 
to satisfy this previous concern. 
 

• Due to the proposed liquor sales and the outdoor seating area’s proximity to residential properties (+ 270’ 
south / ±180’ north), staff recommends the Commission add a condition on any potential Special Use Permit 
for outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant, limiting the hours of the outdoor seating area 
and prohibiting live entertainment. 
 

• The Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance establishes a maximum sound level of 55 decibels measured at 
the property lines of commercial development.  As a point of comparison 55 decibels is comparable to a 
normal human conversation or the hum of an electrical transformer from 100’ away.  Staff recommends 
any outdoor music comply with this requirement as a condition of approval for any potential Special Use 
Permit for outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant. 
 

• The proposed outdoor area is not expected to significantly increase parking demand and is seasonal in 
nature. 
 



5 

• Ordinance No. 2991 which previously granted a Special Use for outdoor seating in 2015 included the 
following conditions: 

 
1. The outdoor seating area is limited to the north portion of the building only and to the nine (9) 

tables depicted on the restaurant renovation plan; 
2. No live entertainment in the outdoor dining area; 
3. Outdoor amplified music shall not exceed 55 decibels as measured at the property line, in 
4. accordance with Article 6, Part 2, of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance; 
5. All exterior doors to remain closed during indoor live entertainment; and 
6. Relocation of the easternmost portion of the outdoor seating area enclosure ± 8 feet to the 
7. west. 

 

Drive-Up Service Window 

• The Zoning Ordinance classifies drive-up service windows as a Special Use.  The applicant is seeking to re-
establish the required Special Use Permit for the existing drive-up service window on the rear of the building 
for call-ahead pick-up only.  The applicant has indicated that there would be no ordering of food from the 
drive-up window.  The applicant believes that any vehicle queuing would be minimal.  The existing vehicle 
entrance to the drive-up service window only accommodates the stacking of approximately 2-3 standard 
size vehicles.  According to the records of the Frankfort Township Assessor, the subject building and drive-
up service window was constructed in 1999 following approval of the Brookside Commons PUD circa 1997.  
The Zoning Ordinance, which was adopted in 2001, now requires queuing for a minimum of eight (8) 
vehicles waiting at a drive-up service window.  

 
Major Change to a Planned Unit Development 
 

• The existing building has been vacant for many years and as a result has not been properly maintained both 
internally and externally. 

 
• The following Site Plan changes require approval of a Major Change to a PUD:  installation of a wrought iron 

enclosure for the outdoor seating area, exterior changes to the building including the addition of brick 
veneer on the existing tower, replacement of existing sconce lighting with new sconce lighting and rope 
lighting for accent lighting under the roof overhangs. 
 

• The existing E.I.F.S entrance tower element is deteriorating and may need to be removed and rebuilt.  The 
2015 proposed Building Elevations depicted stone veneer on a new vestibule to comply with current 
commercial building standards which require masonry construction.  At this time, the applicant is proposing 
to remove the existing E.I.F.S. material and install brick veneer in a darker red “Aberdeen” panel brick to be 
consistent with the existing exterior brick on the building as well as the adjacent office buildings (refer to 
attached Site Photos).  It is staff’s understanding that the applicant proposes to use a thin dimension 
material as a veneer and does not propose to use standard dimension brick stacked upon a brick ledge.  The 
applicant has submitted a material sample for staff and Commission review to ensure that the proposed 
material will attempt to match the color of the existing red brick on the building as well as the color of the 
brick on the office buildings in the Brookside Commons PUD.     
 

• Previously submitted color 3D renderings for the workshops held in 2022 depicted new channel cut letter 
signage on the tower facing Route 30.  Signage details were not provided at the time of this report.  The 
applicant must comply with the Village’s exterior signage regulations as well any other signage 
requirements of the Brookside Commons PUD. 

 
Standards for Planned Unit Developments  
(also applicable to Major Changes to Planned Unit Developments) 
 
For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section F of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance refers to Planned 
Unit Developments (refer to complete Article 3 attached). Part 4 of said Section F refers to the review standards the 
must be considered. 



6 

 
In granting or withholding approval of Preliminary Plans and Final Plans, the Plan Commission and the Village Board 
shall consider the extent to which the application fulfills the requirements of this Ordinance and the following 
standards:  
 

a. The plan is designed to protect the public health, welfare, and safety.  
 

b. The proposed development does not cause substantial injury to the value of other property in the 
immediate area.  
 

c. The plan provides for protection of the aesthetic and function of the natural environment, which shall 
include, but not be limited to, flood plains, streams, creeks, lakes, ponds, wetlands, soil and geologic 
characteristics, air quality, vegetation, woodlands, and steep slopes.  
 

d. The plan provides for and ensures the preservation of adequate recreational amenities and common open 
spaces.  
 

e. Residential use areas may provide a variety of housing types to achieve a balanced neighborhood.  
 

f. The planned unit development provides land area to accommodate cultural, educational, recreational, 
and other public and quasi-public activities to serve the needs of the residents thereof.  
 

g. The proposed development provide for the orderly and creative arrangement of all land uses with respect 
to each other and to the entire Village.  
 

Standards for Special Uses  
 

For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section B, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use request.  
 
The Plan Commission shall make written findings of fact and shall refer to any exhibits containing plans and 
specifications for the proposed special use, which shall remain a part of the permanent record of the Plan 
Commission. The Plan Commission shall submit same, together with its recommendation to the Village Board for 
final action. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find:  
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or endanger, 
the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  
 

e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  
 



7 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which 
it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant 
to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.  

 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.04

1: 1,128

0 Miles

10211 W. Lincoln Highway

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

6/1/2022 Date:

0.02

Address Points
Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels LY
Townships



Site Photos – 10211 W. Lincoln Highway (May 19, 2022) 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Site Photos – 10211 W. Lincoln Highway (March 15, 2024) 

 

 

   Figure 1:  Former Simply Smokin’ BBQ & Grill Restaurant located at 10211 W. Lincoln Highway. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2:  Parking lot to the east of the subject building at 10211 W. Lincoln Highway. 



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Figure 3:  Rear façade of 10211 W. Lincoln Highway. 

Figure 4:  West façade of 10211 W. Lincoln Highway. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Figure 5:  Shared drive-aisle behind 10211 W. Lincoln Highway, viewed looking west. 

Figure 6:  Shared drive-aisle behind 10211 W. Lincoln Highway, viewed looking east. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Figure 7:  Existing brick façade at 10211 W. Lincoln Highway compared to proposed Panelbrick brand thin 
brick veneer product in “Aberdeen” style (proposed to replace existing EIFS material on entrance tower).  

Figure 8:   Existing brick façade at 10217 W. Lincoln Highway (same brick material among the other office 
buildings in Brookside Commons) compared to proposed Panelbrick brand thin brick veneer product in 
“Aberdeen” style (proposed to replace existing EIFS material on entrance tower).  

 



EXISTING

STONE OR GRAVEL
FILL

CLAY BACKFILL

CONCRETE

BRICK

CONCRETE
MASONRY UNIT

CUT
STONE

RUBBLE
STONE

ACOUSTICAL TILE

RESILIENT TILE

CERAMIC TILE

METAL
(LARGE SCALE)

METAL
(SMALL SCALE)

CONCRETE, PLASTER,
EXTERIOR INSULATION
FINISH SYSTEM

SHEET
METAL

GLAZING

GYPSUM BOARD,
PLASTER, GROUT, SAND

PLYWOOD

WOOD

ROUGH
LUMBER

BATT OR LOOSE
INSULATION

RIGID 
INSULATION

TOPSOIL

ABBREVIATIONS

YARDYD

WELDED WIRE FABRIC
WALL TO WALL
WAINSCOT
WATER STOP
WATER REPELLENT
WATER PROOFING
WIRE MESH
WINDOW
WROUGHT IRON
WALL HUNG
WIRED GLASS
WOOD
WATER CLOSET
WOOD BASE
WITHOUT
WITH
WIDTH, WIDE
WEST

VINYL TILE
VENEER
V JOINT(ED)
VINYL
VINYL FABRIC
VESTIBULE
VERTICAL
VAPOR BARRIER

URINAL
UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE
UNFINISHED
UNDERCUT
UNIFORM BUILDING CODE

TERRAZZO
TYPICAL
TELEVISION
TREAD
TOILET PAPER DISPENSER
TOLERANCE
TACKBOARD
THRESHOLD
THICK(NESS)
TELEPHONE
TERRA COTTA
TOWEL BAR
TONGUE AND GROOVE
TOP

STEEL

SYSTEM
SYNTHETIC
SYMMETRY
SUSPENDED
STRUCTURAL
STORAGE

SEATING STEEL
STANDARD
STATION
SERVICE SINK
STAINLESS STEEL
SQUARE
SPECIAL
SPEAKER
SPECIFICATION
SPACER
SOUNDPROOF
SANITARY NAPKIN RECEPTACLE
SANITARY NAPKIN DISPENSER
SMOKE DETECTOR
SLEEVE
SKYLIGHT
SINK
SIMILAR
SHEATHING
SHEET
SHOWER
SHELF, SHELVES
SHEET GLASS
SAFETY GLASS
SECTION
SECRETARY
SOAP DISPENSER
STRUCTURAL CLAY TILE
SCREEN
SCHEDULE
SEAT COVER DISPENSER
SOLID CORE
SOUTH

RED WOOD
RIVET
REVERSE (SIDE)
RIGHT OF WAY
ROUGH OPENING
ROOM
RAILING
RAIL
RIGHT HAND
REFLECT(ED), (IVE), (OR)
ROOF HATCH
ROOFING
REVISION(S), (ED)
RESILIENT
REQUIRED
REMOVE
REINFORCE(D), (ING)
REGISTER
REFRIGERATOR
REFERENCE
ROOF DRAIN
REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE
RADIUS
RETURN AIR
RISER

QUARRY TILE

PAVEMENT
POLYVINYL CHLORIDE
PAPER TOWEL RECEPTOR
PARTITION
PAPER TOWEL DISPENSER
POST-TENSIONED CONCRETE
POINT
POUND PER SQUARE INCH
POUNDS PER SQUARE FOOT
PRESTRESSED CONCRETE
PREFORMED
PREFABRICATED
PAIR
PAINT
PANEL
PLYWOOD
PLATE GLASS
POUNDS PER LINEAL FOOT
PLASTER
PLASTIC LAMINATE
PLATE

PARKING
PREFINISHED
PERFORATE(D)
PERIMETER
PEDESTAL
POUNDS PER CUBIC FOOT
PRECAST CONCRETE
PARTICLE BOARD
PANIC BAR
PARALLEL

OPEN WEB JOIST
OPPOSITE
OPPOSITE HAND
OPENING
OVERHEAD
OFFICE
OUTSIDE DIAMETER
OVERALL

NOT TO SCALE
NOISE REDUCTION COEFFICIENT
NOISE REDUCTION
NOMINAL
NUMBER
NOT IN CONTRACT
NATURAL
NORTH

MILLWORK
MULLION
METAL
MOUNTED
MOUNT
MARBLE
MODULAR
MILLIMETER
MOLDING
MISCELLANEOUS
MIRROR
MINIMUM
MANHOLE
MANUFACTURER
MATERIAL
MEMBRANE
MEDIUM
MECHANICAL
MEDICINE CABINET
MEMBER
MOP BASIN
MAXIMUM
MASONRY
METER(S)

CHANNEL
CENTERLING
AT
ANGLE
AND

LIGHT WEIGHT CONCRETE
LIGHT WEIGHT
LOUVER
LINTEL
LIGHT
LOW POINT
LIMESTONE
LIVE LOAD
LEFT HAND
LIGHT CONTROL
LABEL
LAG BOLT
LAVATORY
LAMINATE
LADDER
LABORATORY
LENGTH

JOINT
JOIST
JANITOR'S CLOSET
JANITOR

INVERT
INTERIOR
INSULATE(D), (ION)
INCLUDE(D), (ING)
INCINERATOR
INCH
INSIDE DIAMETER

HOT WATER HEATER
HARDWOOD
HEATING, VENTILATING, A/C
HEATING
HEIGHT
HOUR
HIGH POINT
HORIZONTAL
HOLLOW METAL
HOOK(S)
HARDWARE
HEADER
HEAT DETECTOR
HOLLOW CORE
HOSE BIBB

GYPSUM
GRAVEL
GROUT
GLAZED STRUCTURAL TILE
GRADE, GRADING
GROUND
GLASS BLOCK
GLASS, GLAZED
GASKET(ED)
GLAZED CONCRETE MASONRY
GENERAL CONTRACT(OR)
GRAB BAR
GALVANIZED
GAUGE

FURRED(ING)
FOOTING
FEET (OR FOOT)
FRAME(ING)

FIRE PROOF
FIRE PLACE
FLEXIBLE
FLUORESCENT
FLOOR(ING)
FLASHING
FINISH(ED)
FLAT HEAD
FIBERGLASS
FINISH FLOOR
FOUNDATION
FLOOR DRAIN
FIRE BRICK
FURNISHED BY OTHERS
FIBERBOARD
FLAT BAR
FRESH AIR
FACE

EXTERIOR
EXPOSED
EXPANSION
EXISTING
EXHAUST
ESTIMATE
EQUIPMENT
EQUAL
ELECTRIC PANELBOARD
ENCLOSURE
EMERGENCY
ELEVATOR
ELECTRIC(AL)
ELEVATION
EXPANSION JOINT
EACH
EAST

DRAWER
DRAWING
DOOR
DAMPER
DAMPROOFING
DOWN
DEAD LOAD
DIVISION
DISPENSER
DIMENSION
DIAGONAL
DIAMETER
DOUBLE HUNG
DRINKING FOUNTAIN
DETAIL
DEPARTMENT
DEPRESS(ED)
DEMOLISH, DEMOLITION
DOUBLE

CUBIC YARD
COUNTERSUNK
CENTER
CERAMIC TILE
CASEMENT
CARPET(ED)
CORRIDOR
CONTRACT(OR)
CONTINUOUS OR CONTINUE
CONSTRUCTION
CONNECTION
CONCRETE
COMBINATION
COLUMN
COUNTER
CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT
CENTIMETER
CLEAR(ANCE)
CLOSET
CAULKING
CEILING
CONTROL JOINT
CIRCLE
CAST-IN-PLACE CONCRETE
CAST IRON
CHAMFER
CORNER GUARD
COUNTER FLASHING
CUBIC
CEMENT
CENTER TO CENTER
CATCH BASIN
CABINET
CURB

WWF
WTW
WSCT
WS
WR
WP
WM
WIN
WI
WH
WG
WD
WC
WB
W/O
W/
WI
W

VT
VNR
VJ
VIN
VF
VEST
VERT
VB

UR
UNO
UNF
UC
UBC

TZ
TYP
TV
TR
TPD
TOL
TKBD
THR
THK
TEL
TC
TB
T&G
T

SYS
SYN
SYM
SUSP
STRL
STOR
STL
STG
STD
STA
SSK
SS
SQ
SPL
SPK
SPEC
SPCR
SP
SNR
SND
SMD
SL
SKL
SK
SIM
SHTHG
SHT
SHR
SH
SG
SFGL
SECT
SECR
SD
SCT
SCN
SCH
SCD
SC
S

RWD
RVT
RVS
ROW
RO
RM
RLG
RL
RH
RFL
RFH
RFG
REV
RES
REQ
REM
REINF
REG
REFR
REF
RD
RCP
RAD
RA
R

QT

PVMT
PVC
PTR
PTN
PTD
PTC
PT
PSI
PSF
PSC
PRF
PREFAB
PR
PNT
PNL
PLYWD
PLGL
PLF
PLAS
PLAM
PL

PKG
PRN
PERF
PER
PED
PCF
PCC
PBD
PB
PAR

OWJ
OPP
OPH
OPG
OH
OFF
OD
OA

NTS
NRC
NR
NOM
NO
NIC
NAT
N

MWK
MULL
MTL
MTD
MT
MRB
MOD
MM
MLD
MISC
MIR
MIN
MH
MFT
MAT
MEMB
MED
MECH
MC
MBR
MB
MAX
MAS
M

cL
@
<
&

LWC
LW
LVR
LTL
LT
LP
LMS
LL
LH
LC
LBL
LB
LAV
LAM
LAD
LAB
L

JT
JST
JC
JAN

INV
INT
INSUL
INCL
INCIN
IN
ID

HWH
HWD
HVAC
HTG
HT
HR
HP
HORIZ
HM
HK
HDW
HDR
HD
HC
HB

GYP
GVL
GT
GST
GR
GND
GLB
GL
GKT
GCMU
GC
GB
GALV
GA

FURR
FTG
FT
FR

FRPF
FP
FLX
FLUOR
FLR
FLG
FIN
FH
FGL
FF
FDN
FD
FBR
FBO
FBD
FB
FA
F

EXT
EXPO
EXP
EXIST
EXH
EST
EQUIP
EQ
EP
ENCL
EM
ELEV
ELEC
EL
EJ
EA
E

DWR
DWG
DR
DPR
DP
DN
DL
DIV
DISP
DIM
DIAG
DIA
DH
DF
DET
DEPT
DEP
DEMO
DBL

CY
CISK
CTR
CT
CSMT
CPT
CORR
CONTR
CONT
CONST
CONN
CONC
COMB
COL
CNTR
CMU
CM
CLR
CLO
CLKG
CLG
CJ
CIR
CIPC
CI
CHAM
CG
CFLG
CF
CEM
CC
CB
CAB'T
C

BOTH WAYS
BEVELED
BUILT UP ROOFING
BASEMENT
BRONZE
BEARING
BRICK
BEARING PLATE
BEAM
BLOCKING
BLOCK
BUILDING
BITUMINOUS
BOARD
BOTTOM

BW
BVL
BUR
BSMT
BRZ
BRG
BR
BPL
BM
BLKG
BLK
BLDG
BITUM
BD
B

AUTOMATIC
ASPHALT
ASBESTOS
ARCHITECTURAL
ACCESS PANEL
ANODIZED
ALUMINUM
ALTERNATE
AGGREGATE
ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR
ADJUSTABLE
ADHESIVE
ADDENDUM
AREA DRAIN
ACOUSTICAL TILE
ACOUSTICAL
ACCESS
ABOVE
ANCHOR
AIR CONDITIONING

AUTO
ASPH
ASB
ARCH
AP
ANOD
ALUM
ALT
AGG
AFF
ADJ
ADH
ADD
AD
ACT
ACOUS
ACC
ABV
AB
A/C

P.J. PRECAST CONCRETE  PANEL JOINT

101

A101
1

SIM

1

A101

SIM

1i

1t

/1 A101

Room name

101

0

ELEVATION 
MARKER

WALL TYPE 

DOOR TAG 

CENTERLINE

WINDOW TAG

COLUMN GRID 
LINE

CALLOUT

SECTION

VIEW REFERENCE

ROOM TAG

NORTH ARROW

BREAK LINE

EXTERIOR 
ELEVATION TAG

1

R
e
fA101

1
View Name
1/8" = 1'-0"

DRAWING TITLE 
LABEL

1 KEYNOTE

1. OWNER WILL PAY FOR THE PERMIT AND REVIEW FEES.

2. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR AND ALL SUB-CONTRACTORS SHALL OBTAIN 
AND PAY FOR ALL FEES, LICENSES, BONDS, DEPOSITS, ETC., AS REQUIRED 
BY LOCAL CODE.

3. ALL CONTRACTORS SHALL BE LICENSED, BONDED AND INSURED, AND 
SHALL FURNISH A CERTIFICATE AS EVIDENCE OF INSURANCE AND 
INSURANCE LIMITS TO THE OWNER AND SHALL LIST THE OWNER AS 
"ADDITIONAL INSURED".

4. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ARRANGE ALL INSPECTIONS REQUIRED BY THE 
LOCAL AUTHORITY DURING CONSTRUCTION.

5. ALL CONTRACTORS SHALL GUARANTEE ALL WORK FOR A PERIOD OF ONE 
YEAR FROM THE DATE OF ACCEPTANCE BY THE OWNER AND SHALL LEAVE 
THE WORK IN PERFECT ORDER AT COMPLETION AND NEITHER THE FINAL 
CERTIFICATE OR PAYMENT NOR ANY PROVISION IN THE CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS SHALL RELIEVE THE CONTRACTORS OF THEIR 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR NEGLIGENCE OR FAULTY MATERIALS OR 
WORKMANSHIP WITHIN THE EXTENT AND PERIOD PROVIDED BY LAW, AND 
UPON WRITTEN NOTICE, HE/SHE SHALL REMEDY DEFECTS DUE 
THERETO, AND PAY ALL EXPENSES FOR DAMAGES TO OTHER WORK 
RESULTING THEREFROM.

6. ANY DAMAGE TO EXISTING OR NEW WORK DURING THE CONSTRUCTION 
PERIOD RESULTING FROM NEGLIGENCE BY OR ACTS OF THE 
CONTRACTORS, ITS SUBCONTRACTORS, EMPOLYEES, AGENTS OR 
INVITEES SHALL BE REPAIRED OR REPLACED TO ITS ORIGINAL CONDITION 
BY THE APPROPRIATE CONTRACTOR AT NO ADDITIONAL COST TO THE 
OWNER. THE OWNER RESERVES THE RIGHT TO MAKE REPAIRS AT THE 
CONTRACTORS SOLE COST IF NECESSARY.

7. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL UPON WRITTEN NOTICE BY THE 
OWNER, PROMPTLY CORRECT ALL WORK FOUND TO BE DEFICIENT OR 
FAILING TO CONFORM TO THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS DURING THE 
CONSTRUCTION AND/OR THE GUARANTEE PERIOD.

8. ALL WORKMANSHIP AND MATERIAL ARE TO COMPLY WITH ALL LOCAL AND 
STATE BUILDING CODES, REGULATIONS AND ORDINANCE, THE LATEST 
ADOPTED EDITION OF EACH SHALL GOVERN.

9. ALL WORK SHALL BE DONE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SELECTED MATERIAL 
MANUFACTURER'S SPECIFICATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS.

10. THE CONTRACTOR AND SUB-CONTRACTOR DURING AND AT COMPLETION 
OF WORK SHALL REMOVE ALL SURPLUS CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL, 
INCLUDING BOXES, DEBRIS, ETC., AND DISPOSE OF SAME OFF-SITE.  LEAVE 
ALL SURFACES "BROOM CLEAN".  ALL DEBRIS SHALL BE DEPOSITED IN 
CONTAINERS FURNISHED BY THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR.

11. THE SUB-CONTRACTORS SHALL FURNISH ALL MATERIALS AND LABOR FOR 
A COMPLETE JOB, U.N.O. IN THE DRAWINGS OR CONTRACT.

12. VERIFY ANY AND ALL ALTERNATES WITH OWNER PRIOR TO SUBMITTAL OF 
PROPOSAL AND INCLUDE WITH BID.

13. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSPECT THE SITE AND SHALL VERIFY ALL DATA 
PERTAINING TO THE EXISTING SITE AND ITS RELATION TO THE NEW WORK, 
AND REPORT TO THE OWNER ANY DISCREPANCIES WHICH MAY AFFECT 
HIS/HER WORK.

14. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL COMPLY WITH AND PROVIDE FOR SITE 
CONSTRUCTION CLOSURE REQUIREMENTS AS REQUIRED BY LOCAL 
MUNICIPALITY AND GOVERNING BODIES.

15. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE TO PROVIDE FOR 
ANY AND ALL CLOSURES AND PROTECTIVE DEVICES NECESSARY TO KEEP 
THE GENERAL PUBLIC FROM SITE ACCESS DURING THE CONSTRUCTION 
PERIOD.

16. ALL CONTRACTORS SHALL VERIFY LOCATIONS OF ANY AND ALL EXISTING 
UTILITIES AFFECTED BY THEIR WORK AND SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 
PROTECTING THE SAME DURING CONSTRUCTION.CONTRACTORS TO 
INCLUDE IN THEIR BID ANY REWORKING OF UTILITIES AS MAY BE REQUIRED 
BY THEIR WORK.

17. TEMPORARY BRACING SHALL BE PROVIDED WHERE NECESSARY TO 
INSURE STABILITY AND SAFETY DURING ERECTION AND CONSTRUCTION.

18. DO NOT SCALE FROM DRAWINGS, WORK ONLY WITH GIVEN DIMENSIONS.

19. VERIFY ACTUAL DIMENSIONS IN FIELD, AND MAKE ANY ADJUSTMENTS TO 
DIMENSIONS AS REQUIRED AT NO ADDITIONAL COST.

20. THE OWNER SHALL RESERVE THE RIGHT TO MAKE REASONABLE 
MODIFICATIONS IN THE LOCATIONS, PLACEMENT, OR SETTING OF NEW 
EQUIPMENT, FIXTURES AND/OR MATERIALS SHOWN ON THE PLANS PRIOR 
TO ROUGH-IN WITHOUT INVOLVING ADDITIONAL COSTS.

21. RECOGNIZED AUTHORITATIVE AGENCIES:

AMERICAN STANDARDS ASSOCIATIONS (ASA)
AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR TESTING MATERIALS (ASTM)
NATIONAL BOARD OF FIRE UNDERWRITERS (NBFU)
NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS, DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 
(NBS)
NATIONAL FIRE PROTECTIONS AGENCY (NFPA)
UNDERWRITERS LABORATORY (UL)

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

3701 N. Ravenswood Ave. 

Suite 202 

Chicago, Illinois 60613

+1.773.857.7906

www.sumacinc.com

Sheet Title

Copyright SUMAC Inc. 2023

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

1 2
3 4 5

A

B

C

D

Professional Stamp

1
/1

9
/2

0
2
4

 1
:4

5
:1

9
 P

M

G-001

NOTES &

LEGENDS

R
H

U
M

B
A

R

NG

KT

SUS23017

1
0
2
1

1
 W

 L
IN

C
O

L
N

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

F
R

A
N

K
F
O

R
T

, 
IL

 6
0
4
2

3

RHUMBAR
INTERIOR RENOVATION 

10211 W LINCOLN HIGHWAY 
FRANKFORT, ILLINOIS 60423

ISSUE FOR PERMIT
JANUARY 19,2023

THE PROJECT ARCHITECT OR ENGINEER WILL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY 
ACTION TAKEN BY ANY PERSON ON THE PROJECT IF THAT PERSON HAS 
KNOWLEDGE OF ANY DISCREPANCY, ERROR OR OMISSION OR AMBIGUITY IN 
THE CALCULATIONS, DRAWINGS AND / OR SPECIFICATIONS UNTIL THE PROJECT 
ARCHITECT OR ENGINEER HAS BEEN NOTIFIED AND HAS CORRECTED, MADE 
THE INCLUSION OR HAS MORE CLEARLY EXPLAINED THE INTENT OF THE 
DRAWINGS, CALCULATIONS, AND /OR SPECIFICATIONS.

THESE DRAWINGS HAVE BEEN PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND TO THE 
BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION AND BELIEF COMPLY WITH ALL 
GOVERNING BUILDING CODES OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS.  THE CONTRACTOR 
SHALL BEAR ALL COSTS OF ANY ITEMS OR CHANGESMADE BY THE BUILDING 
DEPARTMENT OR THEIR INSPECTORS WITH NO COST TO THE ARCHITECT OR HIS 
CONSULTANTS.   ARCHITECT IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR MEANS AND METHODS 
OF CONSTRUCTION OR SAFETY OF WORKERS.

12/19/2023
EXPIRATION 11/30/2024
EXPIRATION 04/30/2023

NICHOLAS A. GEORGIOU, NCARB
ILLINOIS LICENSED ARCHITECT #001010171
SUMAC, INC - PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM # 184005542-000

ARCHITECT

SUMAC, INC.
Nick Georgiou 
912 W AVENUE H, SUITE 2
GRIFFITH, INDIANA 46319

PHONE: 219.365.9345
FAX: 219.365.8573
EMAIL: ngeorgiou@sumacinc.com

OWNER

Joji R. Tirumalareddy

PHONE: 773.317.0080
EMAIL: station95@gmail.com

2012 International Building Code

2014 Illinois State Plumbing Codes

2012 International Mechanical Code

2015 International Energy Conservation Code

2012 International Fire Code

2011 National Electrical Code

2018 Illinois Accessibility Code

THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT ORDINANCE NO. 3156
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT
CODE OF ORDINANCES - TITLE XV, CHAPTER 150 BUILDING REGULATIONS 

DRAWING CONVENTIONS

MATERIAL DESIGNATIONS

PROJECT  TEAM

SITE LOCATION

SHEET LISTGENERAL NOTES

CODE DATA PROJECT DESCRIPTION

PROJECT AUTHORIZATION

GENERAL

G-001 NOTES & LEGENDS

G-003 ACCESSIBILITY NOTES

G-004 EXITING AND LIFE SAFETY PLANS

ARCHITECTURE

A-001 SITE PLAN

A-100 DEMOLITION PLAN

A-101 FLOOR PLAN

A-102 ENLARGED PLANS

A-103 FURNITURE PLAN

A-201 ELEVATIONS

#
D
a
te

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n

1
1
2
/1

9
/2

3
IS

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

2
0
1
/1

9
/2

4
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 -

 I
S

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

LINCOLN HIGHWAY

mschwarz
Received



(a)
forward approach

(b)
parallel approach

48" min

3
0
" 

m
in

30" min

4
8
" 

m
in

48" min

3
0
" 

m
in

(b)
obstructed high forward reach

(c)
obstructed high forward reach

4
4

" 
m

a
x

> 20"-25" max

4
8

" 
m

a
x

20" max

4
8

" 
m

a
x

1
5
" 

m
in

(a)
unobstructed forward reach

(b)
obstructed high side reach

(c)
obstructed high side reach

4
6

" 
m

a
x

3
4

" 
m

a
x

>10"-24" max

4
8

" 
m

a
x

3
4

" 
m

a
x

10" max

4
8

" 
m

a
x

1
5
" 

m
in

10" max

(a)
unobstructed side reach

(a)
wheelchair accessible

water closets

(b)
ambulatory accessible 

water closets

16"-18" 17"-19"

42" min

54" min

12" max

transfer side

36" min

24" min 12" min

5
6
" 

m
in

60" min

side
wall

Note: inside finished dimensions measured 
at the center points of opposing sides

side
wall

back wall

60" min

36" minfront wall

3
' -

 0
"

(b)
with seat

(elevation)

(a)
with seat

(elevation)

(c)
without seat

(plan)

(d)
with seat

(plan)

back wall

back wall

back wall

side
wall

side
wall

side
wall

side
wall

side
wall

front wallfront wall

4
8
" 

m
a
x

15" max

4
8
" 

m
a
x

27" max

(b)
with seat

(a)
without seat

back wall

4
8
" 

m
a
x

27" max

4
8
" 

m
a
x

can be located on any wall of shower

front wall

back wall

side
wall

side
wall

6" max6" max

6
" 

m
a
x

(a)

(b)

(c)

48" min

48" min

48" min

(c)
folding door

(a)
hinged door

(b)
sliding door

32" min

90
.0

0°

32" min

32" min

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

3701 N. Ravenswood Ave. 

Suite 202 

Chicago, Illinois 60613

+1.773.857.7906

www.sumacinc.com

Sheet Title

Copyright SUMAC Inc. 2023

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

1 2
3 4 5

A

B

C

D

Professional Stamp

1
/1

9
/2

0
2
4

 1
:4

5
:2

0
 P

M

G-003

ACCESSIBILITY

NOTES

R
H

U
M

B
A

R

SUS23017

1
0
2
1

1
 W

 L
IN

C
O

L
N

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

F
R

A
N

K
F
O

R
T

, 
IL

 6
0
4
2

3

1/2" = 1'-0"
1

ADA CLEAR FLOOR OR GROUND SPACE

1/2" = 1'-0"
2

ADA FOWARD REACH

1/2" = 1'-0"
3

ADA OBSTRUCTED HIGH SIDE REACH

1/2" = 1'-0"
4

ADA - WATER CLOSET LOCATION
1/2" = 1'-0"

5

ADA - SIDE WALL GRAB BAR AT WATER
CLOSETS

1/2" = 1'-0"
6

ADA - REAR WALL GRAB BAR WATER
CLOSETS

1/2" = 1'-0"
7

ADA - SIZE OF CLEARANCE AT WATER
CLOSETS

1/2" = 1'-0"
10

ADA - ALTERNATE ROLL-IN TYPE
SHOWER COMPARTMENT SIZE AND
CLEARANCE

1/2" = 1'-0"
8

ADA - ALTERNATE ROLL-IN TYPE
SHOWER COMPARTMENT CONTROL
LOCATION

1/2" = 1'-0"
9

ADA - STANDARD ROLL-IN TYPE
SHOWER COMPARTMENT CONTROL
LOCATION

1/2" = 1'-0"
11

ADA - GRAB BARS FOR ALTERNATE
ROLL-IN TYPE SHOWERS

1/2" = 1'-0"
12

ADA DOORS IN SERIES AND GATES IN
SERIES

1/2" = 1'-0"
13

ADA CLEAR WIDTH OF DOORWAYS

#
D
a
te

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n

1
1
2
/1

9
/2

3
IS

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT



 4 4

 4
 4

 4

 4
 4

 4

1
2

 4

 4
 4

B
U

S

 4
 4

 4

12

 4

 4

 4  4

 4

4 4 4
4

 4

WAITRESS

6

6 6
4

D
N

 T
O

B
S

M
T

.
1
6
R

 =
 -

1
5
T

 =
 1

1
"

4
4

4
4

44

4
4

4
4

2
2

2

4 44

6 6 6

4

EXISTING DINING

13

DINING

14
BAR AREA

03

EXISTING
KITCHEN

07

EXISTING WALK
IN COOLER

12

EXISTING WALK
IN FREEZER

11

EXISTING UTILITY

10

K
E

G
 R

O
O

M

1
5

RECEPTION

02

EXISTING
VESTIBULE

01

EXISTING
WOMEN'S

RESTROOM

04

EXISTING MEN'S
RESTROOM

05

EXISTING TAKE
OUT

09

EXISTING
DISHWASHER

08

EXIT 02

EXIT WIDTH: 36"
EXIT CAPACITY:  180 
OCCUPANTS

EXIT 03

EXIT WIDTH: 42"
EXIT CAPACITY:  210 
OCCUPANTS

EXIT 04
EXIT WIDTH: 34"
EXIT CAPACITY:  170 
OCCUPANTS

EXIT 01
EXIT WIDTH: 60"
EXIT CAPACITY:  300 
OCCUPANTS

23'-8"

37'-11"

44'-0"

44'-8"

76'-9"

50'-7"

73'-0"

BAR AREA

06

OUTDOOR
SEATING

17

32'-10"

48'-11"

48'-10"

GROSS AREA FOR PLUMBING COUNT: 1020 SF

2

DINING + BAR AREAS

DINING AREAS 

13 | EXISTING DINING 981 SF
14 | DINING 992 SF 
17 | OUTDOOR SEATING 728 SF 
18 | EXISTING DINING          898 SF 

TOTAL DINING AREA: 3,599 SF 

BAR AREA

03 | BAR AREA 680 SF 
06 | BAR AREA 435 SF

TOTAL BAR AREA: 1,115 SF 

ALLOWABLE BAR AREA

25 % OF 3,599 SF + 1,115 SF = 1,179 SF MAX 

PLUMBING CALCULATIONS

OCCUPANCY PER ILL. PLUMBING CODE
1 OCCUPANT / 3 GSP

MAIN LEVEL
1,020 SF / 30 = 34 OCCUPANTS
BOOTHS = 72 OCCUPANTS
BAR = 21 OCCUPANTS

  
MEZZANINE LEVEL 
462 SF / 30 = 16 OCCUPANTS
BOOTHS = 16 OCCUPANTS

OUTDOOR SEATING 
728 SF / 30 = 35 OCCUPANTS 

TOTAL OCCUPANTS: 194
97 MEN / 97 WOMEN 

MEN'S FIXTURES
WATER CLOSETS: 1 REQ. / PROVIDED 1
URINALS: 1 REQ. / PROVIDED 2
LAVATORIES: 1 REQ. / PROVIDED 1

WOMEN'S FIXTURES
WATER CLOSETS: 2 REQ. / PROVIDED 2
LAVATORIES: 1 REQ. / PROVIDED 2

OCCUPANCY CALCULATIONS

KITCHEN GROUND FLOOR (100 SF / OCCUPANT)

07 | EXISTING KITCHEN 785 SF 
08 | EXISTING DISHWASHING 62 SF
09 | EXISTING TAKEOUT 73 SF

920 SF / 100 = 9 OCCUPANTS

INTERIOR SEATING GROUND FLOOR

UNCONCENTRATED SEATING  (15 SF / OCCUPANT)

06 | BAR AREA 327 SF 
13 | EXISTING DINING 837 SF
14 | DINING 155 SF 
          

1,319 SF / 15 = 88 OCCUPANTS

FIXED SEATING

03 | BAR AREA 18" / OCCUPANT
21'-4" / 18" =   14 OCCUPANTS

BOOTHS = 20 OCCUPANTS

06 | DINING BOOTHS = 16 OCCUPANTS
14 | DINING BOOTHS = 56 OCCUPANTS

INTERIOR SEATING MEZZANINE

UNCONCENTRATED SEATING (15 SF / OCCUPANT)

              18 | EXISTING DINING 718 SF / 15 = 48 OCCUPANTS

FIXED SEATING

18 | EXISTING DINING BOOTHS = 16 OCCUPANTS

MAX OCCUPANTS DINING + BAR AREAS: 258 OCCUPANTS
(254 SHOWN)

EXTERIOR SEATING 

OUTDOOR SEATING - UNCONCENTRATED (20 SF / OCCUPANT)

17 | OUTDOOR SEATING 728 SF / 20 = 36 OCCUPANTS

(36 SHOWN) 

2

2

2

EXISTING DINING

18

41'-0"

GROSS AREA FOR 
PLUMBING COUNT: 462 SF

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

3701 N. Ravenswood Ave. 

Suite 202 

Chicago, Illinois 60613

+1.773.857.7906

www.sumacinc.com

Sheet Title

Copyright SUMAC Inc. 2023

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

1 2
3 4 5

A

B

C

D

Professional Stamp

1
/1

9
/2

0
2
4

 1
:4

5
:3

3
 P

M

G-004

EXITING AND LIFE

SAFETY PLANS

R
H

U
M

B
A

R

JO

KT

SUS23017

1
0
2
1

1
 W

 L
IN

C
O

L
N

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

F
R

A
N

K
F
O

R
T

, 
IL

 6
0
4
2

3

#
D
a
te

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n

1
1
2
/1

9
/2

3
IS

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

2
0
1
/1

9
/2

4
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 -

 I
S

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

LIFE SAFETY PLAN - MAIN LEVEL
1/8" = 1'-0"

2
LIFE SAFETY PLAN - MEZZANINE LEVEL



EXISTING BUILDING

LINCONL HIGHWAY

EXISTING PARKING 
LOT TO REMAIN

EXISTING DRIVE THRU

EXISTING DETENTION BASIN

EXISTING PATIO TO REMAIN

EXISTING TRASH 
ENCLOSURE

EXISTING SKYLIGHT

EXISTING SKYLIGHT

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

3701 N. Ravenswood Ave. 

Suite 202 

Chicago, Illinois 60613

+1.773.857.7906

www.sumacinc.com

Sheet Title

Copyright SUMAC Inc. 2023

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

1 2
3 4 5

A

B

C

D

Professional Stamp

1
/1

9
/2

0
2
4

 1
:4

5
:3

3
 P

M

A-001

SITE PLAN

R
H

U
M

B
A

R

JO

KT

SUS23017

1
0
2
1

1
 W

 L
IN

C
O

L
N

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

F
R

A
N

K
F
O

R
T

, 
IL

 6
0
4
2

3

#
D
a
te

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n

1
1
2
/1

9
/2

3
IS

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

3/32" = 1'-0"
1

SITE PLAN



D
N

 T
O

B
S

M
T

.
1
6
R

 =
 -

1
5
T

 =
 1

1
"

REMOVE NON BEARING WALL AS REQUIRED FOR NEW OPENING

REMOVE WALL UNDER STAIRS

REMOVE KITCHENETTE COMPLETE. INCLUDE KITCHEN HOOD 
AND  ELECTRICAL, MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT. 

REMOVE BAR COMPLETE, INCLUDING CANOPY STRUCTURE, 
COUNTER AS REQUIRED FOR NEW BAR EQUIPMENT LAYOUT. 

CORE THROUGH PRECAST FROM PLANK FOR NEW DRAIN. 
LOCATE OPENING IN PLANK VOIDS/CORES. 

PROVIDE SUPPORT TO STRUCTURAL BEAM AND COLUMNS  
DURING BAR DEMOLITION.

1

2

3

4

5

DEMOLITION NOTES

6

DINING

14

EXISTING DINING

13

EXISTING
RECEPTION

02

EXISTING
VESTIBULE

01

EXISTING
WOMEN'S

RESTROOM

04

EXISTING MEN'S
RESTROOM

05

BAR AREA

03

EXISTING
KITCHEN

07

EXISTING
DISHWASHING

08

EXISTING TAKE
OUT

09EXISTING UTILITY

10

EXISTING WALK
IN FREEZER

11

EXISTING WALK
IN COOLER

12

BAR AREA

06

1

3

2

4

5

NOTE:

ALL EXISTING WALLS, CEILINGS, FLOOR FINISHES, ETC. 
ARE EXISTING TO REMAIN, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. 

DN

UP

UP

UP

6

2

EXISTING DINING

18

DN

DN

DN

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

3701 N. Ravenswood Ave. 

Suite 202 

Chicago, Illinois 60613

+1.773.857.7906

www.sumacinc.com

Sheet Title

Copyright SUMAC Inc. 2023

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

1 2
3 4 5

A

B

C

D

Professional Stamp

1
/1

9
/2

0
2
4

 1
:4

5
:3

4
 P

M

A-100

DEMOLITION

PLAN

R
H

U
M

B
A

R

JO

KT

SUS23017

1
0
2
1

1
 W

 L
IN

C
O

L
N

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

F
R

A
N

K
F
O

R
T

, 
IL

 6
0
4
2

3

#
D
a
te

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n

1
1
2
/1

9
/2

3
IS

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

2
0
1
/1

9
/2

4
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 -

 I
S

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

DEMO PLAN - MAIN LEVEL
1/8" = 1'-0"

2
DEMO PLAN - MEZZANINE LEVEL

FINISH NOTES 

1. EXISTING CONSTRUCTION TO REMAIN UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2, ALL SURFACES AFFECTED BY CONSTRUCTION TO BE PATCHED TO 
MATCH ADJACENT SURFACE.

3. NEW DOOR CASINGS ARE TO MATCH EXISTING MATERIALS AND 
PROFILES.

4. ALL CEILING MOUNTED ILLUMINATED EXIST SIGNS AND EMERGENCY 
LIGHT FIXTURES ARE EXISTING TO REMAIN.



WAITRESS

5'-7"

9
'-
5

3 / 4
"

8
'-
0

1 / 4
"

8'-41/4"

36'-103/4"

12'-7"

6
'-
4

3 / 4
"

8'-7"

5
'-
1
0
"

8'-7"

1
2
'-
4
"

34'-1" 4'-2"

17'-101/4"

7'-8"

3'-0"

21'-101/2" 9'-4"

35'-03/4"

4
'-
5
"

4
0
'-
5
"

4'-5"

10'-01/2" 10'-8"

8'-7"

3'-5" 5'-2"4'-0"

1
3
'-
8
"

3'-0" 3
'-
6
"

4'-91/2" 10'-31/4"

7
'-
2

1 / 4
"

1
1
'-
1
0
"

1
0
'-
7
"

1
2
'-
7
"

5
'-
3

1 / 2
"

7
'-
4
"

1
5
'-
2

1 / 4
"

10'-01/2"

9'-4" 4'-81/2"

7
'-
3
"

3
'-
9

1 / 2
"

3
'-
3

1 / 4
"

2
1
'-
4
"

5'-4"

3
3
'-
7

1 / 4
"

3
'-
6
"

4
'-
0
"

D
N

 T
O

B
S

M
T

.
1
6
R

 =
 -

1
5
T

 =
 1

1
"

A-102
2

C C

A-102
1

A-102
3

B

B B

B

EXISTING DINING

13

DINING

14

EXISTING
KITCHEN

07

EXISTING
DISHWASHER

08

EXISTING TAKE
OUT

09

EXISTING MEN'S
RESTROOM

05

EXISTING
WOMEN'S

RESTROOM

04

RECEPTION

02

EXISTING
VESTIBULE

01

BAR AREA

03

K
E

G
 R

O
O

M

1
5

EXISTING WALK
IN COOLER

12

EXISTING WALK
IN FREEZER

11

EXISTING UTILITY

10

B

B

B

A

BAR AREA

06

OUTDOOR
SEATING

17

7

10

11

12

13

9

15

8

5

4

2

1

NOTE:

ALL EXISTING WALLS, CEILINGS, FLOOR FINISHES, ETC. 
ARE EXISTING TO REMAIN, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

HVAC AND LIGHTING ARE ARE EXISTING TO REMAIN.

EXISTING STUCCO TO 
BE REFACED WITH 
THIN BRICK VENEER

NEW DECORATIVE FENCE

1

2

4" STOREFRONT AND ENTRY 
DOORS. FINISH TO MATCH 
EXISTING STOREFRONT. DOOR 
TO BE MEDIUM STYLE.

PLAN NOTES

1

5/8" GWB, TYPE 
X

WOOD STUD @ 16" O.C.

BATT INSULATION

INTERIOR FULL HEIGHT PARTITION

A

PARTIAL HEIGHT PARTITION WITH
METAL SCREEN

B

5/8" GWB, TYPE X

WOOD STUD @ 16" O.C., 
REFER TO WALL TYPE

BATT INSULATION

INTERIOR FULL HEIGHT PARTITION
GYP, ONE SIDE

C

4'-6"

7'-0"

EXISTING DINING

18

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

3701 N. Ravenswood Ave. 

Suite 202 

Chicago, Illinois 60613

+1.773.857.7906

www.sumacinc.com

Sheet Title

Copyright SUMAC Inc. 2023

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

1 2
3 4 5

A

B

C

D

Professional Stamp

1
/1

9
/2

0
2
4

 1
:4

5
:3

5
 P

M

A-101

FLOOR PLAN

R
H

U
M

B
A

R

JO

KT

SUS23017

1
0
2
1

1
 W

 L
IN

C
O

L
N

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

F
R

A
N

K
F
O

R
T

, 
IL

 6
0
4
2

3

#
D
a
te

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n

1
1
2
/1

9
/2

3
IS

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

2
0
1
/1

9
/2

4
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 -

 I
S

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

FLOOR PLAN - MAIN LEVEL

3/4" = 1'-0"
WALL TYPES

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

FLOOR PLAN - MEZZANINE LEVEL

DOOR SCHEDULE

Mark Location

Door Frame

HW
Set CommentsHeight (A) Width (B)

Panel
Type Finish

Frame
Material Finish

1 EXISTING VESTIBULE 7' - 0" 5' - 0" EXISTING TO REMAIN

2 EXISTING RECEPTION 7' - 0" 5' - 0" EXISTING TO REMAIN

4 EXISTING WOMEN'S
BATHROOM

7' - 0" 3' - 0" EXISTING TO REMAIN

5 EXISTING MEN'S BATHROOM 7' - 0" 3' - 0" EXISTING TO REMAIN

7 EXISTING KITCHEN 7' - 0" 3' - 6" EXISTING TO REMAIN

8 EXISTING BASEMENT 7' - 0" 2' - 4" EXISTING TO REMAIN

9 EXISTING TAKEOUT 7' - 0" 3' - 0" EXISTING TO REMAIN

10 EXISTING UTILITY 7' - 0" 3' - 0" EXISTING TO REMAIN

11 EXISTING WALK IN FREEZER 7' - 0" 2' - 4" EXISTING TO REMAIN

12 EXISTING WALK IN COOLER 7' - 0" 2' - 4" EXISTING TO REMAIN

13 EXISTING DINING 7' - 0" 2' - 10" EXISTING TO REMAIN



6 6
44 44 4

5

4 4 3 2 2

1

6

7

8

9 10

11

12

C

29

29

INSULATED 
COOLER 
PANELS

13

14

14A

15

16

17

19

18

20

21

22

23

25

27

26

28

24

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

3701 N. Ravenswood Ave. 

Suite 202 

Chicago, Illinois 60613

+1.773.857.7906

www.sumacinc.com

Sheet Title

Copyright SUMAC Inc. 2023

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

1 2
3 4 5

A

B

C

D

Professional Stamp

1
/1

9
/2

0
2
4

 1
:4

5
:4

3
 P

M

A-102

ENLARGED

PLANS

R
H

U
M

B
A

R

JO

KT

SUS23017

1
0
2
1

1
 W

 L
IN

C
O

L
N

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

F
R

A
N

K
F
O

R
T

, 
IL

 6
0
4
2

3

#
D
a
te

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n

1
1
2
/1

9
/2

3
IS

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

2
0
1
/1

9
/2

4
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 -

 I
S

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

3/8" = 1'-0"
1

ENLARGED KITCHEN PLAN

3/8" = 1'-0"
2

ENLARGED KEG ROOM PLAN
3/8" = 1'-0"

3
ENLARGED BAR PLAN

Specialty Equipment Schedule

ITEM NO. QTY MODEL NUMBER MANUFACTURER EQUIPMENT CATEGORY VOLTS PHASE AMPS HP PLUG BTU

COLD
WATER
SIZE (IN)

HOT
WATER
SIZE (IN)

INDIR
DRAIN

SIZE (IN)

1 1 P150G MORETTI FORNI Gas Deck Oven 240 1

2 2 SR142G FRYMASTER Fryer

3 1 MR10 MOTAK Gas burner 360,000

4 2 1800 BROASTER Pressure Fryer

5 1 36RB VULCAN Salamander Broiler 50,000

6 1 DFG-100-ES BLODGETT Oven 1 8

7 1 DL-30-72 ADVANCE TABCO Prep Table

8 1 DTS-S70-48L ADVANCE TABCO Dirty / Soiled Dishtables 1 1/2"

9 1 ES-2000HT ECOLAB Dishmachine 1

10 1 DTC-S70-96R ADVANCE TABCO Clean Dishtable

11 1 FS-3-1620-24RL ADVANCE TABCO Dirty / Soiled Dishtables 2"

12 1 F2QA2-74-1836S EAGLE GROUP Shelving

13 1 7055A-D PERLICK Underbar Dry Storage 1 1/2"

14 1 TS36IC10 PERLICK Underbar Ice Chest 1/2"

14A 1 SR-D36A PERLICK Underbar Speed Rail

15 1 TS12BLW PERLICK Underbar Blender Station 0.375 0.375 1 1/2"

16 1 TS12HSN PERLICK Underbar Handsink 0.375 375 1 1/2"

17 1 FR48RT PERLICK Froster/Chiller, Glass/Mug/Plate 115 1 6.2 0.33 X

18 1 4006-6B PERLICK Dispensing Head, Draft Beer, Tee Tower

19 1 TSD24 PERLICK Underbar Fillers & Drainboards 1 1/2"

20 1 PKC24 PERLICK Glasswasher 120 1 11.0 0.01 0.05 0.05 1 1/2"

21 1 7057-3 PERLICK Glasswasher Accesory 0.375 0.375 1 1/2"

22 1 TSF12BTB PERLICK Bridge Trash

23 1 TS90D-FI PERLICK Underbar Fillers & Drainboards 1 1/2"

24 1 PTS42R-LF PERLICK Underbar Pass-Thru Servicie Station 0.5 0.5 1 1/2"

25 1 TS18LS PERLICK Underbar Liquor Display

26 BBS84**R PERLICK Back Bar Equipment 120 1 6.3 0.33 X 1"

27 1 DB24 PERLICK Back Bar Equipment 1"

28 1 BBS84**L PERLICK Back Bar Equipment 120 1 6.3 0.33 X 1"

29 2 PMB X9 POUR MY BEER Bear Wall



 4 4

 4
 4

 4

 4
 4

 4

1
2

 4

 4
 4

B
U

S

 4
 4

 4

12

 4

 4

 4  4

 4

4 4 4
4

 4

WAITRESS

6

6 6
4

D
N

 T
O

B
S

M
T

.
1
6
R

 =
 -

1
5
T

 =
 1

1
"

4
4

4
4

44

4
4

4
4

2
2

2

4 44

6 6 6

4

B

EXISTING DINING

13 DINING

14

EXISTING
KITCHEN

07

EXISTING
DISHWASHER

08

EXISTING TAKE
OUT

09

EXISTING MEN'S
RESTROOM

05

EXISTING
WOMEN'S

RESTROOM

04

RECEPTION

02

EXISTING
VESTIBULE

01

BAR AREA

03

K
E

G
 R

O
O

M

1
5

EXISTING WALK
IN COOLER

12

EXISTING WALK
IN FREEZER

11

EXISTING UTILITY

10

BAR AREA

06

2

EXISTING DINING

18

Drawn By

Checked By

Project Number

3701 N. Ravenswood Ave. 

Suite 202 

Chicago, Illinois 60613

+1.773.857.7906

www.sumacinc.com

Sheet Title

Copyright SUMAC Inc. 2023

1 2 3 4 5

A

B

C

D

1 2
3 4 5

A

B

C

D

Professional Stamp

1
/1

9
/2

0
2
4

 1
:4

5
:4

4
 P

M

A-103

FURNITURE PLAN

R
H

U
M

B
A

R

JO

KT

SUS23017

1
0
2
1

1
 W

 L
IN

C
O

L
N

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

F
R

A
N

K
F
O

R
T

, 
IL

 6
0
4
2

3

#
D
a
te

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n

1
1
2
/1

9
/2

3
IS

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

2
0
1
/1

9
/2

4
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
 -

 I
S

S
U

E
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

FURNITURE PLAN - MAIN LEVEL
1/8" = 1'-0"

2
FURNITURE PLAN - MEZZANINE LEVEL



mschwarz
Received









4 
 

Chair Rigoni noted that she appreciated that the applicant had given the building a face-
lift, which is older and needed attention.  

Drew Duffin asked the commissioners for clarity regarding the amount of parking required 
for the proposed use, which is unique.  Mike Schwarz clarified by noting that the PC-ZBA 
recently reviewed the Special Use Permit request for Pic & Plā pickleball and assigned a 
specific number of parking spaces for the use, and that a similar action could be taken for 
Tiny Tots.  Commissioner Knieriem stated that he believed that the use would generate up 
to 25 cars, not including employees; the other commissioners agreed.  

Mike Schwarz noted that the public hearing for this Special Use Permit had already been 
noticed in the newspaper and will be held on October 27th.   

C. Workshop: 10211 W. Lincoln Highway – Rhumbar  

Mike Schwarz presented the staff report. 

The applicant, Joji Tirumalareddy approached the podium.  He noted that there would not 
be any enclosure of the existing patio, nor would the mezzanine level be expanded.   

Commissioner Hogan noted that the applicant was requesting to be open for breakfast, 
lunch and dinner and then turned to the issue of parking in this commercial plaza.  He noted 
that restaurant as proposed would have a very large number of seats, perhaps being the 
largest restaurant in the Village.   

Commissioner Knieriem noted that there is so little parking in the plaza currently that cars 
are being parked in the drive-through area and on the patio.  He asked if the applicant were 
willing to transform the front patio area into some parking spaces.  The applicant responded 
that he would not because the patio dining is very important for the business.  

Commissioner Markunas asked when the restaurant would be open. The applicant 
responded 7 am – 11 pm.  Mike Schwarz noted that the PC-ZBA could condition the hours 
of operation as part of the Special Use Permit request.  

Chair Rigoni noted that the parking situation is significantly better after 5 or 6 pm.  She 
noted that the restaurant immediately to the west recently came before the PC-ZBA for a 
Major PUD Change and the owner willingly offered to curtail their operating hours by 
opening later at 3 pm.  She recommended something similar for Rhumbar.  

Commissioner Schaeffer noted that the amount of parking generated by the restaurant is 
dependent on the number of seats proposed.  She suggested further reducing the number of 
seats to help alleviate the parking deficiency.  Alternatively, the applicant could approach 
Avanti Furniture to the west to explore the option of overflow/shared parking. She asked 
if the drive-through lane could be removed and converted into a few additional parking 
spaces.  



5 
 

Commissioner Knieriem asked the applicant if he was willing to only be open after 4 pm 
to help alleviate the parking demand in the plaza.  The applicant responded that he would 
not.  Commissioner Knieriem noted that parking is extremely limited in the plaza and that 
even if the restaurant were demolished, the parking lot would still be at-capacity.  He felt 
that a new restaurant being open for the entire day, every day, would be hard to support.  

Commissioner Hogan noted that if patrons come to the restaurant and find parking very 
difficult, that they might not come back.  He recommended that the applicant speak with 
neighboring property owners to explore the option of shared parking.  He noted that it 
would be hard to support the project as proposed without any shared parking agreement in 
place.  

Chair Rigoni asked for more information when the restaurant was initially constructed. In 
particular, she asked for the seating capacity or floorplan of the restaurant as it was initially 
approved.  She noted that the building was constructed as a restaurant, but that seating 
capacity and shared parking should be considered.  She believed that even one more seat 
in the restaurant than was originally approved would be too much.  

Commissioner Markunas noted that the parking situation is awful, but that this was not 
necessarily the fault of the applicant.  He noted however, that the applicant should look for 
creative solutions to the parking problem, including things which could also help the 
business be successful.  He noted that a lot of people would not go to the restaurant if 
parking were severely limited.  

Commissioner James said that being open for breakfast on weekdays would be problematic 
but could potentially work for weekends when most of the other businesses were closed.  
He recommended adding more parking, perhaps in the area of the patio or the drive-through 
lane.  He noted that even though such an action might add only 6-7 more parking spaces, 
it would be a good gesture.   

Commissioner Knieriem noted that the existing greenhouse/glass enclosure area was in 
very poor condition and needed to be rebuilt.  He noted that since it would likely need to 
be demolished anyway, this area could be used for an outdoor patio instead, and the existing 
patio area could be used for additional parking.  In this scenario, the outdoor seating area 
would be set back further away from busy Route 30.  The applicant noted that he was not 
open to this idea and had already hired a contractor to repair the glass enclosure area.  

Chair Rigoni reiterated the need for creative solutions.  She then asked for comments 
regarding the proposed drive-through.  

Commissioner Hogan noted that the proposed drive-through would be problematic in a 
parking lot at maximum capacity.  The applicant noted that he wanted to keep the drive-
through window and operation, as the coronavirus pandemic had changed the nature of the 
restaurant business.  



6 
 

Commissioner James inquired about the proposed solar-powered wall-mounted lamps.  He 
was concerned that if each light were powered by its own battery, that they would vary in 
brightness. The applicant explained that while they were individually powered, they were 
hard-wired to the building so that there would be uniform lighting.  Commissioner James 
also noted the proposed rope lights which had the appearance of a casino.  The applicant 
responded by saying that the light source within the rope light would not be visible because 
it would be recessed under the awnings and that only reflected light would be visible.  Mike 
Schwarz noted that persons under the awning itself would be able to directly see the rope 
lights.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if the rope lights would be placed under the lip of the 
awning.  The applicant responded in the affirmative and added that he may also add can 
lights beneath the awning.  Commissioner Schaeffer asked about the proposed brick on the 
tower element of the building and whether it would match the rest of the brick on the 
building.  The applicant responded that the new brick would match the existing brick.  
Commissioner Schaeffer said that the color rendering of the building made the brick on the 
tower appear very different than the rest of the brick on the building and that she would 
prefer a contrasting brick instead of a somewhat matching brick.  Chair Rigoni requested 
that a sample board be left at the site so that the commissioners could see the exact contrast 
in the field.   

Commissioner Knieriem also voiced a preference for a brick on the tower that contrasted 
more with the existing brick.  He also cautioned the use of rope lighting because it is not 
typically used on high-end properties.  He recommended using LED or can lights instead 
of rope lights.  

Commissioner Markunas stated his opposition to rope lighting, which would give the 
building an appearance of a tiki bar.  He noted that once the applicant selects an architect 
prior to the next meeting, they should bring in a sample of the rope lights, if they are 
insistent upon using them.  

Chair Rigoni expressed her opposition to new rope lights on the building.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant was proposing an indoor stage and if so, 
what it would be used for.  The applicant responded that they were proposing a stage and 
that they may use it for piano, karaoke or open mic night, among other possible things.  
Chair Rigoni noted that piano and karaoke engender different atmospheres and asked that 
the applicant decide exactly what they’d like to use the stage for, prior to the next meeting.  
She noted that live entertainment could increase the demand for parking.  

Chair Rigoni recognized that there were several members in the audience and that although 
it was not a public hearing, she would permit comment.  An unidentified male approached 
the podium and noted that the mezzanine appears to be an extension of the bar, giving the 
business more of a feeling of a bar than a restaurant.  He noted that the menu proposed by 



7 
 

the applicant appeared to be nearly identical to the menu for Republic Gastropub in 
Oklahoma City.  

An unidentified female approached the podium.  She recommended that the applicant 
consider the commissioner’s comments because in doing so, it would help his business.  
She also recommended adjusting the plans to create more parking spaces, perhaps by 
removing the outdoor seating area.  She also recommended having the restaurant remain 
closed inside for breakfast and lunch, but only offering take-out through the drive-through 
only during those times to help alleviate the parking demand.  

Mary Willcamp approached the podium. She said that people park on Johnson Avenue 
between Washington Parkway and Mulberry Road on the north side of the street.  She 
noted that there’s a school bus stop at Mulberry and Johnson and that if there is increased 
traffic and parking in the residential subdivision that it could be a safety concern. Chair 
Rigoni suggested to staff that this concern may merit a discussion with the Traffic Advisory 
Committee.  

A second unidentified female approached the podium and noted that she lives on Johnson 
Avenue.  She was concerned about the noise but was a little less concerned if the restaurant 
would close at 11 pm.   

Commissioner Knieriem asked that when the applicant returns to the PC-ZBA, that he be 
prepared with a specific plan about his business model, including the use of the indoor 
stage.  Mike Schwarz reminded the applicant that plans prepared by an architect are 
required prior to any future meeting.  

D. Public Comments 

There were none. 

E. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted that the following matters that previously came before the PC/ZBA 
were reviewed by the Village Board at its meeting on October 3rd, 2022: 

• Three of the four variances for the proposed new home at 240 Center Road were 
approved by the Board.  The metal roof variance was denied.  

• The Special Use Permit for indoor recreation for Pic & Plā pickleball at 21800 S. 
La Grange, Unit B, was approved unanimously by the Board.  

• The Major PUD Change for the patio enclosure and new outdoor patio for Opa 
restaurant at 10235 W. Lincoln was tabled at the request of the applicant.  The 
applicant may return to the Board in the spring of 2023.  


	Binder1 - Bear Down BBQ.pdf
	Staff Report - public hearing 3.21.24
	Binder1- Bear Down BBQ
	1. GIS 1-2000
	2. Survey
	4. Findings of Fact 1.16.24 (SUP)
	5. Findings of Fact_SUP_Commissioners
	6. Butera Parking Analysis - EXISTING REGULATIONS
	6. Butera Parking Analysis - PROPOSED REGULATIONS
	7. email 2.29.24 (business description & hours)
	8. Menu from website

	Floor Plan 3.13.24
	PC Minutes 3.7.24 DRAFT

	PH Staff Report Packet for Triple Crown Training 3.21.24.pdf
	PH Staff Report for Triple Crown Training 3.21.24.pdf
	RE_ 9426 Corsair Rd - Request for Parking Reduction.pdf
	PH Staff Report for Triple Crown Training 3.21.24

	Staff Report for PC-ZBA WORKSHOP 3-21-24.pdf
	20240119_Rhumbar_Revisions.pdf
	Sheets
	A-001 - SITE PLAN
	A-100 - DEMOLITION PLAN
	A-101 - FLOOR PLAN
	A-102 - ENLARGED PLANS
	A-103 - FURNITURE PLAN
	G-001 - NOTES & LEGENDS
	G-003 - ACCESSIBILITY NOTES
	G-004 - EXITING AND LIFE SAFETY PLANS


	PC Minutes 10.13.22 SIGNED.pdf
	PC Minutes 10.13.22 DRAFT
	img-X28111452-0001





